
 

CITY OF NORTH POLE 
Regular Meeting July 2, 2018 

North Pole Council Chambers 
125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska 

www.northpolealaska.com  
 
 
 
 

Monday, July 2, 2018 
Committee of the Whole: 6:30 p.m. 

Regular City Council Meeting – 7:00 p.m. 
 

 
   

MAYOR       CITY CLERK 
Bryce Ward        Judy Binkley   
888-4444          488-8583  
 

 
  COUNCIL MEMBERS        

Avery Thompson – Mayor Pro Tem  388-5351 
David Skipps – Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 750-5106 
Aino Welch – Alt Dep Mayor Pro Tem 488-5834 
Santa Claus     388-3836 
Doug Isaacson     322-3133 
Sharon Hedding    488-9075 
 
 

  
1. Call to Order/Roll Call 
  
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the US Flag 
 
3. Invocation   

  
4. Approval of the Agenda 

 
5. Approval of the Minutes  
 
6. Communications from the Mayor 
 
7. Council Member Questions of the Mayor 
 
8. Communications from Department Heads, Borough Representative and the City Clerk 

 

http://www.northpolealaska.com/


9. Ongoing Projects Report 
 

10. Citizens Comments (Limited to Five (5) minutes per Citizen) 
 

11. Old Business 
 
12. New Business 

 
a. Request for Approval to Extend the Auction Contract with Great North Auction LLC 

Until June 2019. 
b. Request for Approval of the City of North Pole Advertising Contract with the 

Fairbanks Daily Newsminer. 
c. Request to Authorize the North Pole 2018 Water System Expansion – Control 

Programming Professional Services Proposal in the Amount of $82,616. 
d. Ordinance 18-14, An Ordinance of the City of North Pole, Alaska to Amend the 2018 

Police Department and Fire Department Budgets. 

13. Executive Session 

a. To discuss personnel issues in the Fire Department. 
 
14. Council Comments 
 
15. Adjournment 
 
Detailed information and copies of agenda documents may be obtained at the Office of the City Clerk, 
125 Snowman Lane or on the City website www.northpolealaska.com .  Notice of Council Action is 
available at City Hall and on the City website following the meeting.  Council Meetings are aired live 
via audio streaming from the City’s website.  Inquiries concerning ADA compliance or 
accommodations should be directed to the City Clerk.   
 

http://www.northpolealaska.com/


Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 

1 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 

2 

Committee of the Whole – 6:30 P.M. 
      Regular City Council Meeting – 7:00 P.M. 

A regular meeting of the North Pole City Council was held on Monday, June 18, 2018 in the 
Council Chambers of City Hall, 125 Snowman Lane, North Pole, Alaska. 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
Mayor Ward called the regular City Council meeting of Monday, June 18, 2018 to order at 
7:00 p.m. 

There were present:  Absent/Excused 
Avery Thompson – Mayor Pro Tem 
David Skipps – Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 
Aino Welch – Alt Dep Mayor Pro Tem 
Santa Claus 
Doug Isaacson Excused 
Sharon Hedding Excused
Mayor Ward  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE U.S. FLAG 
Led by Mayor Ward 

INVOCATION  
Invocation was given by Ms. Welch 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Mr. Thompson moved to approve the agenda of June 18, 2018 

Seconded by Mr. Claus 

DISCUSSION 
None 

Mr. Thompson moved to add the following item: 

New Business: 

b. Request to Approve the Renewal of the City of North Pole Health Care Plan for July 1,
2018 – June 30, 2019.



Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   2 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

Seconded by Mr. Claus 
 
Discussion 
None 
 
On the amendment 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 5 – Skipps, Thompson, Claus, Welch, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 2 – Hedding, Isaacson   
 
On the Agenda as amended 
 
Discussion 
None  
 
PASSED 
Yes: 5 – Skipps, Thompson, Claus, Welch, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 2 – Hedding, Isaacson   
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Mr. Thompson moved to approve the Minutes of June 11, 2018  
 
Seconded by Ms. Welch 
 
Discussion 
None  
 
PASSED 
Yes: 5 – Skipps, Thompson, Claus, Welch, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 2 – Hedding, Isaacson  
 
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE MAYOR (Audio 3:17) 

• This was week was busy as we were in court for the evidentiary hearing for the statute of 
limitations regarding the sulfolane settlement. 

• We are getting ready for the 4th of July.  Our next meeting is Monday, June 25th at 6pm. 
 



Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   3 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

COUNCIL MEMBER QUESTIONS OF THE MAYOR (Audio 3:46) 
• Ms. Welch asked if there was a request for the ice sculpture this year.  Mayor Ward 

replied that we would figure something out. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM DEPARTMENT HEADS, BOROUGH 
REPRESENTATIVE AND THE CITY CLERK 
 
Fire Dept., Chief Coon 
None 
 
Police Dept., Chief Dutra (Audio 4:05) 

• Taser replacement is needed and we suspect somewhere around $18k cost to replace.  
Working on a replacement timeline to help reduce expenditure.  Current units are almost 
10 years old. 

• We find ourselves in another pickle with hiring.  Officer Fisher has taken a job in Iowa 
and will be leaving us after 7 years.  Sorry to see him go.  This will leave us down 3 in 
the summer. 

• June 30th at 11:00 is our annual Sgt. Allen Brandt Run From the Cops event at FPD.  I 
would hope you can find time to attend. 

• Thank you for supporting the radio grant and the JAG money. 
• Chief Eric Jewkes, Captain Wall, and myself all honored Dr. Charles Scott for his 

lifetime achievement to the citizens of this borough.  We honored him with a plaque and 
an award at the annual APOA Awards Banquet. 

• I conducted an ALiCE presentation for Sourdough employees at the NP Sourdough.  
Well received. 

• I just returned from vacation.  All is well.  Lt. did a good job while I was gone.  We kept 
in touch and handled issues over the phone. 

• Ms. Welch asked if there was a way to contact police directly report anything citizens 
see.  Chief Dutra replied that you can always call the station and if no one answers, the 
call will be directed to dispatch. 

 
Finance, Tricia Fogarty 
None 
 
Director of City Services, Bill Butler (Audio 10:07) 
Building Department 

• North Pole Middle School Mechanical Upgrades Project, preferred contractor identified 
for this FNSB $4 million project. 

• Dental practice on Kevin’s Way construction has begun. 
• Homestead Road: four, 4-plexs’ construction is under way. 



Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   4 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

• Three new single family home permit applications submitted. 
• New 4-plex on Park Way permit applications submitted. 
• To date, almost $15 million in new valuation authorized or in the permitting process to 

date. 
Public Works 

• Landscaping activities are the major activities being performed by Public Works. 
• Flowers in roundabouts weathered the frost conditions last week with some minor losses 

in the planters. 
• Light poles around City Hall painted white. 

o Candy cane pattern had faded badly. 
o Time consuming to reproduce the candy cane pattern. 
o This fall, Public Works will wrap the street lights at the City Hall parking lot with 

strands of red lights to reproduce the candy cane effect. 
• One summer hire left for a higher paying position.  Public Works is considering delaying 

a new hire until the end of summer when the summer hires begin to leave but much 
landscaping work remains and the two permanent staff are short-handed preparing for 
winter. 

Utility Department 
• Sufolane settlement: 

o HDPE pipe installation continues in 12 Mile Village, up Peridot Street and into 
section of Zone 3 to get the water main to the new pump house. 

o Plan to connect the 16 inch HDPE main to the Utility’s 12 inch ductile iron water 
main in about two weeks to begin flushing the new water mains. 

o Peridot Road pump house subsurface piping nearing completion and proceeding 
to pouring the foundation. 

o Framing work nearing completion at the water treatment plant. 
o A problem has occurred with horizontal directional drilling under the drainage 

channel. 
 Can see the drilling equipment parked on the south side of the Richardson 

Highway. 
 Soils keep collapsing, interfering the pulling of the water main through the 

bore hole. 
 Solution is use of a large pipe sleeve to pull the water main through the 

bore hole. 
Natural Gas Utility Board 

• On June 12, IGU board voted to purchase Pentex from AIDEA. 



Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   5 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

• On June 14, AIDEA approved transferring Pentex to IGU. 
• Ms. Welch asked how where that puts us know with all the pipe that is already in the 

ground.  Mr. Butler replied that a 45 million gallon liquified gas tank in Fairbanks and 
that will replace the Fairbanks tanks.  The tanks being replaced in Fairbanks will then be 
moved out to North Pole.  It will probably not be until 2020 that North Pole gets gas. 

 
Borough Representative – Mr. Skipps (Audio 17:25) 

• The 2018-2019 budget for the school district has been approved.   
• Also, all kindergarten classes in all schools will now go for the full day.   
• There are lots of summer activities going on.   
• The City of Fairbanks hired 20 new operators to cut down on overtime costs during the 

winter. 
 
City Clerk’s Office, Judy Binkley (Audio 18:37) 

• Last week Tricia and I met with Hale & Associates to go over our Workman’s Comp, 
Law Enforcement Liability, and Cyber Liability Insurance renewals.  We got good news 
as our overall costs are going down. 

• I am well under way with preparations for election time.  The candidate packet is 
available on the website and our notice of vacancies has been published.  The 2018 
Candidate Open House will be Saturday, July 7th at the Borough Assembly Chambers 
beginning at 10am.  The filing period will open at 8am on Monday, July 16th and close at 
5pm on Monday, July 30th. 

• I will be on vacation starting tonight and back in the office on Monday, July 2nd.  I plan to 
check my emails daily so if you need to get a hold of me, that will be the best way. 

 
ONGOING PROJECTS (Audio 20:00) 
Gary Hutchison presented the 2017 draft audit by Kohler, Schmitt, and Hutchison. 
 
CITIZENS COMMENTS – (Limited to Five (5) minutes per Citizen) 
None 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
ORDINANCE 18-12, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLE, ALASKA TO 
AMEND TITLE 2, PERSONNEL SYSTEM, CHAPTER 36, SECTION .480 INSURANCE 
AND DISABILITY BENEFITS. (Audio 46:17) 
 
Mayor Ward introduced the ordinance. 
 



Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   6 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

Public Comment 
None 
 
Mr. Thompson moved to adopt Ordinance 18-12, an ordinance of the City of North Pole, 
Alaska to Amend Title 2, Personnel System, Chapter 36, Section .480 Insurance and 
Disability Benefits. 
 
Seconded by Ms. Welch 
 
Discussion (Audio 47:38) 

• Mr. Thompson stated he thinks the increase is relatively small considering the health 
insurance marketplace and supports the ordinance. 

 
PASSED 
Yes: 5 – Skipps, Thompson, Claus, Welch, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 2 – Hedding, Isaacson 
 
ORDINANCE 18-13, AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA TO 
AMEND TITLE 2, ADMINISTRATION AND PERSONNEL CHAPTER 36 PERSONNEL 
SYSTEM, SECTION 410 REGARDING LEAVE AND ADDING SECTION 415 
VOLUNTARY LEAVE BANK PROGRAM. (Audio 48:20) 
 
Mayor Ward introduced the ordinance. 
 
Public Comment (Audio 52:55) 

• Steve Dutra, 125 Snowman Lane: Stated he likes the current system that is in place.  
There have been issues with popularity but that employees should be able to donate to 
employees directly.  The idea of the bank is a good idea but there needs be an appeal 
process.  Right now we have a good working relationship with the Clerk and the Mayor 
but that could change so we need to make this process time-proof.   

 
Mr. Thompson moved to adopt Ordinance 18-13, an ordinance of the City of North Pole, 
Alaska to amend Title 2, Administration and Personnel, Chapter 36 Personnel System, 
Section 410 regarding leave and adding Section 415 Voluntary Leave Bank Program. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Skipps 
 
Discussion (Audio 56:05) 

• Mr. Claus stated he agrees with the Chief about having a mechanism in there and 
perhaps tabling this until there is a way to work out some sort of accommodation that 



Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   7 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

takes into account the changes that might go through with the City Clerk and Mayor in 
the future. 

• Ms. Welch stated part of the issue could be taken care of by having 2 (two) people 
concur on the decision.   

• Mr. Thompson stated he thinks he understands where the discussion is going.  However, 
by changing the language from “or” to “and” doesn’t alleviate the time-proofing issue.  

• Mayor Ward stated we could look at modifying this by having the City Clerk, who is 
also the HR Manager rule quickly on all decisions and if there is an appeal, it then goes to 
the Mayor to make a decision. 

• Ms. Welch wanted clarification that with this method, the Clerk would make the decision 
and if the employee didn’t like the decision, they could appeal to the Mayor. 

• Mr. Thompson asked if we want to address all the areas of the ordinance that say 
“and/or” Mayor. 

 
Ms. Welch moved to suspend the rules for 5 minutes 
 
Seconded by Mr. Skipps 
 
Mr. Thompson moved to amend Ordinance 18-13, an ordinance of the City of North Pole, 
Alaska to amend Title 2, Administration and Personnel, Chapter 36 Personnel System, 
Section 410 regarding leave and adding Section 415 Voluntary Leave Bank Program by: 

• Line 90 strike “and Mayor” 
• Line 106 strike “and/or Mayor” 
• Line 110 add c. An applicant may appeal a decision made by the City Clerk to 

the Mayor, who shall quickly make a determination in writing.  The Mayor’s 
decision is final. 

• Line 121 strike “or Mayor” 
• Line 125 strike “or Mayor” 

 
Seconded by Ms. Welch 
 
Discussion on the amendment (Audio 1:12:40) 

• Mr. Thompson stated that just to add closure, this is a good way to clean up the 
ordinance. 

 
On the amendment 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 5 – Skipps, Thompson, Claus, Welch, Ward 
No: 0  



Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   8 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

Absent: 2 – Hedding, Isaacson 
 
Discussion on the motion as amended 
None 
 
On the motion as amended 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 5 – Skipps, Thompson, Claus, Welch, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 2 – Hedding, Isaacson 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF QUOTE FOR STREET MAINTENANCE WORK: 
SUMMER 2018. (Audio 1:13:45) 
 
Mr. Butler introduced the request. 
 
Public Comment 
None 
 
Mr. Thompson moved to approve the quote from JVP Construction for street maintenance 
work: summer 2018. 
 
Seconded by Mr. Skipps 
 
Discussion 
None 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 5 – Skipps, Thompson, Claus, Welch, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 2 – Hedding, Isaacson 
 
REQUEST TO APPROVE THE RENEWAL OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE 
HEALTH CARE PLAN FOR JULY 1, 2018 – JUNE 30, 2019. (Audio 1:18:10) 
 
Mayor Ward introduced the request. 
 
Public Comment 
None 
 



Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   9 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

Mr. Thompson moved to approve the renewal of the City of North Pole Health Care Plan 
for July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2019. 
 
Seconded by Ms. Welch 
 
Discussion (Audio 1:20:30) 

• Mayor Ward stated he is excited about the wellness program and fostering the culture of 
taking care of your health for our employees. 

• Ms. Welch stated that education is important for our employees to be better consumers. 
 
PASSED 
Yes: 5 – Skipps, Thompson, Claus, Welch, Ward 
No: 0  
Absent: 2 – Hedding, Isaacson 
 
COUNCIL COMMENTS (Audio 1:23:00) 
 
Mr. Thompson – see you guys July 2nd, at our next Council meeting. 
 
Mr. Skipps – invite Council members to our next 4th of July celebration meeting on Monday, 
June 25th. 
 
Ms. Welch – I’ll be doing ice carving for the 4th of July event and I’ll have visiting guests at our 
next Council meeting. 
 
Mr. Claus – it’s still light out so I hope all those using the sidewalks (atvs, 4-wheelers) will obey 
all traffic laws. 
 
Mayor Ward – my time here is short so if anyone is interested, my door is open and I look 
forward to helping the next mayor be successful in this role. 
 
Mr. Thompson moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:33 p.m. 
 
Seconded by Ms. Welch 
 
The regular meeting of Monday, June 18, 2018 adjourned at 8:34 p.m.  
 
  



Draf
t

Regular City Council Meeting 
June 18, 2018 

7:00 p.m. 
 
 

   10 
Minutes NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT 
June 18, 2018 
 
 

These minutes passed and approved by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City 
Council on Monday, July 2, 2018.  
   
        
 

____________________________________ 
        Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
  
___________________________________ 
Judy Binkley, North Pole City Clerk 
 
   



1 
 

125 Snowman Ln 
North Pole, Alaska  
99705 
907-888-4444 
907-488-8584 

City of North Pole 
Office of the Mayor 

Memo 
To: Judy Binkley, North Pole City Council 

From: Mayor Ward 

cc:  

Date: June 26, 2018 

Re: Extension of Auction Service contract  

  

Council, 

The City recently put the Auction services back out to bid and received no qualified 
submissions, Per the contract with Great North Auction LLC we are able to extend for 
another year, I am recommending to extend the contract to June 15th 2019. The 
Contract cannot be extended after June 15, 2019 and must be rebid.  

 

Sincerely,  

 

Mayor Bryce J. Ward 
 
 



























R a t e s  e f f e c t i v e  J a n u a r y  1 ,  2 0 1 8



ADVERTISING RATES                                         per column inch ROP (run of press) 
    
 Daily Sunday   
Open Rate ............. $27.50 ................... $29.50
Political ................. $27.50 ................... $29.50
Non-Profit Rate (501.C3) ................... $18.30

REVENUE CONTRACT RATES     
 

Revenue Contracts must be fulfilled in a 12 month period.  Contracts will be 
analyzed quarterly for fulfillment tracking.  

If contract is not met, a shortrate will apply retroactively to the earned rate.       
 Daily Sunday   
$5,000 .................... $18.75 ................... $20.75   
$10,000 .................. $17.75 ................... $19.75   
$15,000 .................. $16.80 ................... $18.75   
$30,000 .................. $15.90 ................... $17.80   
$75,000 .................. $15.00 ................... $16.90   
$100,000 ................ $14.25 ................... $16.10   
$150,000 ................ $13.50 ................... $15.25

COLOR RATES
• $99 flat fee up to 14 inches  • $499 flat fee for 32-126 inches
• $299 flat fee for 14.5 - 31.5 inches • $499 Double Truck

TABLOID SPECIAL SECTIONS RATES*
 Size Col/inches Dimensions Black & White Ad With Color
 1/8 Page 7.5 4.92” x 2.5” $225.00 $320.00
 1/4 Page 15 4.92” x 5” $375.00 $520.00
 1/2 Page 30 10” x 5” $595.00 $820.00
 Full Page 60 10” x 10” $1,050.00 $1,445.00

SPECIALTY PUBLICATION RATES*
Bi-Monthly HOMES Magazine .................................Call for Quote
Weekly What’s On Entertainment Magazine ...........Call for Quote

ALASKA POST RATES
Weekly Military Paper ......... $13.50 per column inch
Color Rate (up to 14”) ................................ $75 flat fee
Color Rate (over 14”) ................................$120 flat fee

  Black & White With Color
Front Page Banner (6 col x 1”) ............................. $120 ..................$195
Front Page Banner (6 col x 2”) ............................. $240 ..................$300
The following types of advertising are not accepted for the front page of the Alaska Post: 
Bars or nightclubs, alcohol, tobacco, personals, political advertising or advertising from
political action committees.

SPADEAS
Open Rate ................................... $10,000 per spadea
6 spadeas annually ....................... $8,000 per spadea
12 spadeas annually  .................... $6,000 per spadea

*Does not include PREMIUM Products

A3

Monday, September 12, 2016

Fairbanks Daily News-Miner

F1
05
00
93
2

517 Gaffney Rd
Mon - Fri: 10 am - 6 pmSat: 10 am - 5 pm456-6212

Forget-Me-NotBooksBooksCraftingBooks50% offSep 12 - 17

F1
15
09
78
5

FEATURING SPARKELS &
MR. TURTLESONMonday Nightsat 6:00pmat Party PalaceOnly $9.00 Per Person

(Group Discounts Given)

F1
35
22
90
0

•WET Macular Degeneration

• Diabetic Eye Diseases
• Glaucoma• Retinal Tears

INJECTIONS FOR MACULAR

DEGENERATION & DIABETES

Eye care with a personal touch.

Need A Little Extra Cash?Sell your used items in the 

Fairbanks Daily News-Miner Classifieds!459-7555

Historic aircraft making its way to Fairbanks

A Swallow is winging its 
way to the Far North, 

but it’s hitching a ride 

on an Everts Air Cargo plane.

The Swallow is a historic air-

craft due to be the next display 

at the Pioneer Air Museum 

at Pioneer Park. Museum 

director Pete Haggland has 

been working hard to get what 

remains of the aircraft to the 

museum so it can be rebuilt.

“The Swallow is in Califor-

nia, loaded in a trailer and 

ready to go to Arizona,” he said 

at last week’s open house for 

the Pioneer Air Museum.
In Arizona, it will be loaded 

onto an Everts Air Cargo plane 

and then delivered to Alaska.

“I’ve been kind of looking 

for one,” Haggland said. “One 

of our members happened to 

be down there in California 

and saw it. It’s just like the one 

Sam White flew when he was 

first doing his airborne game 

warden stuff.”Sam White was Alaska’s 

first flying game warden. 

Although this fuselage is not 

Sam White’s plane, it is from 

the same era. The museum 

already has wings from a Swal-

low, but the fuselage has never 

been found. This Swallow in 

California is the same model.

Haggland is pretty excited 

about finding this fuselage and 

frame and is looking forward 

to rebuilding the plane.
Everyone connected to the 

museum and Interior Alas-

ka aviation probably knew 

Haggland was searching for a 

Swallow. That’s the beauty of 

traveling Alaskans who love 

aviation, he said. They are 

always on the lookout. Appar-

ently, one of them found this 

fuselage while traveling in Cal-

ifornia and called Haggland. 

Discussions to purchase the 

airplane began immediately. 

When the sale was con-

firmed, the museum had to 

find a way to transport it. 

Everts Air Cargo graciously 

offered to bring it north. So 

that same aviation fan loaded 

it onto a trailer and is driving 

it to Arizona to load it onto the 

cargo plane.The entire plane will be 

rebuilt when it arrives.
“We’ll do it with volunteers,” 

said Haggland, who will be 

hands-on in the rebuild.
“It will take a lot of work,” he 

said. “We are looking forward 

to having something of that 

vintage. The historical signif-

icance is enough to make it 

well worth while.”The plane’s display will 

include its history, its own-

ers and its significance to Alas-

ka aviation.

Art walkThe Fairbanks Pioneers’ 

Home will hold its ninth 

annual art walk fundraiser 

from 6-8 p.m. Friday. This 

year, it features the private 

collection of Shirley and Rick 

Winther. This is the first time 

this art, collected during a 

lifetime, will be displayed in 

public.
Past fundraisers have helped 

the Fairbanks Pioneers’ Home 

Foundation build, pave, light 

and provide railings for a 

walking path around the 

Home, now enjoyed by resi-

dents and their families. It has 

also funded the annual sum-

mer picnic and railroad trips 

to Denali National Park. Most 

recently, it has helped finance 

a dental clinic at the Home.

The evening includes appe-

tizers, wine, and both outcry 

and silent auctions. Admission 

is $25. The Pioneer’s Home is 

located at 2221 Egan Ave. For 

more information, call  
456-4372.

Nominate a ChampionThere are a lot of folks in 

Fairbanks who go out of their 

way to help young people. 

They are teachers, adminis-

trators, counselors, caregivers, 

program directors, volunteers 

and more.Every year, the Imagination 

Library honors a handful of 

dedicated people who demon-

strate extraordinary and 

exemplary service to children 

in the Fairbanks North Star 

Borough.Now is the time to nominate 

the champions for 2016. They 

will be honored at an upcom-

ing recognition dinner at 

Pike’s Waterfront Lodge.
Nominations are due by  

Oct. 7. More information 

and nomination forms are at 

northstarimaginationlibrary.

org/champions.Contact community editor and 

columnist Kris Capps at kcapps@

newsminer.com, in the office at  

459-7546 or by cell at 322-6334. 

Follow her on Twitter: @FDNMKris.

Kris CappsCOMMUNITY EDITORkcapps@newsminer.com

This historic aircraft is headed to the Fairbanks Pioneer Air Museum to be rebuilt. It's loaded in a trailer to be loaded on an Everts Air Cargo 
plane. 

PHOTOS COURTESY 
PETE HAGGLAND/

FAIRBANKS PIONEER AIR MUSEUM

“Last night, we sat around 

the fire and read stories 

about how youths became 

homeless. It was powerful.”
Fairbanks North Star 

Borough Mayor Karl 

Kassel was among those 

who slept outside. As he 

emerged from his card-

board box he said he 

appreciates his bed a little 

more.
“We need to be aware of 

the volume and severity,” 

Kassel said of the home-

less problem in this area. 

“The borough doesn’t have 

a health and social services 

department, which frus-

trates me. The borough 

could do a lot of things 

that really don’t cost that 

much.”
School district Super-

intendent Karen Gabor-

ik said the people who 

camped in the cardboard 

shanties were passionate 

about this issue.“We’re aware some kids 

are dealing with this, but 

we’re not aware. The kids 

don’t even tell their teach-

ers,” Gaborik said.Bates said she doesn’t 

have exact numbers on 

homeless youth in Fair-

banks but it remains a 

serious problem.“I can tell you we maxed 

out our shelter this sum-

mer and we had to turn 

kids away,” Bates said. “We 

can anticipate the econo-

my will have an impact on 

the homeless population.”
Lucas Naber, 8, said 

once he got warm, he slept 

fine.
“I wouldn’t enjoy it very 

much,” Naber said when 

asked about sleeping out-

side for the rest of the year. 

“It would get cold and it 

would start snowing. I 

wish all kids had a home.”
Contact staff writer Kevin Baird 

at 459-7575. Follow him on 
Twitter: @FDNMcity.

NIGHTContinued from A1

Elizabeth Ross and her son Josh Frueh, 13, look at completed inspirational 

messages for youth at The Door to make their own during One Homeless 

Night on Saturday. ERIN CORNELIUSSEN/NEWS-MINER

Two charged in burglary 
of rural village store

ANCHORAGE — Alaska State Troopers have 

arrested two people suspected of burglarizing 

a village store and stealing more than $30,000 

in cash and checks.
Troopers said 29-year-old Philip Simeon and 

20-year-old Juliana Peterson, of Aniak, were 

arraigned Thursday on charges of burglary, 

theft, evidence destruction and criminal mis-

chief. Simeon also is charged with possession of 

burglary tools.Troopers said Simeon and Peterson forced 

their way into the Aniak A.C. Store at about 

4 a.m. Wednesday, removed money and fled. 

Most and possibly all of the cash was found lat-

er in Simeon’s home.
Simeon and Peterson remained jailed Friday 

in Bethel.

Grand jury indicts teen 
in Anchorage shooting death

ANCHORAGE — An Anchorage grand jury 

has indicted an 18-year-old man on murder 

charges in a shooting death on a rural road.

State prosecutors said Kutay Bangout is 

charged with first- and second-degree murder 

in the death of 22-year-old Michael Miquan 

Mitchell.From wire reports

IN BRIEF

INTERIOR/ALASKA

F1
15
04
83
1

G OIB N

CHECK YOUR
CHECK YOUR

NUMBERS!NUMBERS!

sundayARTIST-IN-

RESIDENCE ART 

OUR TOWN » B1

SIBLINGS WIN 

SWING KICK
SPORTS » C1

COGHILL  

FAMILY HISTORY 

SUNDAYS » E1

One dollar and fifty cents 

T H E  V O I C E  O F  I N T E R I O R  A L A S K A

  Business » D1     |     Classified » G1     |     Dear Abby » E3     |    Obituaries » B2, B3     |     Opinion » F1     |     Our Town » B1     |     Sports » C1     |     Sundays » E1

INSIDE

Woman charged with embezzling more than $100,000 from her employer. » A4

Inside Today

newsminer.com

JULY 24, 2016

MASTER’S 

TABLE
Local caterer expands 

with catfish-and-

baked-potato food 

truck.

BUSINESS

Page D1

SOURDOUGH JACK:

“Can ya imagine 

me up there in 

them silks?”

GOOD
MORNING

• • •

The weather.

Partly sunny with 

patchy fog, morning 

showers and highs in 

the mid- to upper 60s.

High today ..............6
3

Low tonight ............4
9

Sunrise: 4:25 a.m.

Sunset: 11:26 p.m.

WEATHER » A5

• • •

Borough seeks authority on city pot licenses 

By Amanda Bohman

ABOHMAN 

@NEWSMINER.COM

A glitch in a pending 

state law has left officials 

at the Fairbanks North 

Star Borough wondering if 

the municipality will get to 

provide input to the state 

about marijuana licenses 

in the cities of Fairbanks 

and North Pole.

For now, the Fairbanks 

North Star  Borough 

Assembly is evaluating 

state license applica-

tions for city businesses 

and providing input to 

the state, but that could 

change if the governor 

signs HB 75 into law.

The bill has a provision 

stating boroughs have 

non-areawide powers 

when it comes to mari-

juana, meaning borough 

marijuana powers stop at 

the boundary of a city.

The Alaska Marijuana 

Control Board appears 

to interpret the law to 

mean the cities are the 

single authorities on state 

license applications with-

in their boundaries. 

“My understanding is 

that AMCO questions 

whether the FNSB has a 

right to protest a license 

located within city limits 

and appears to be current-

ly taking the position that 

the FNSB does not,” wrote 

Assistant Borough Attor-

ney Wendy Doxey in a July 

12 letter to the state.

Doxey wrote the bor-

ough has areawide zon-

ing powers — the cities 

have no zoning powers 

— and should be heard 

by the Marijuana Con-

trol Board on all licenses 

within the borough.

B o t h  c i t y  m a y o r s 

agreed.
“Everybody is trying to 

work out who is doing 

what,” Fairbanks Mayor 

John Eberhart said. “We 

should do them the same 

way as liquor licenses.”

Both the cities and the 

borough are heard by the 

state on state applica-

tions for liquor licenses, 

local officials said.

Nor th  Po le  Mayor 

Bryce Ward said allowing 

the borough authority on 

marijuana licenses makes 

sense because all of the 

zoning powers lie with 

the borough.

“It does appear that 

zoning violations and/

or issues would be the 

only area of authority 

the borough would have 

to address in a protest,” 

Ward wrote in an email. 

“I have no objection to 

the (borough’s) request to 

be included in all licens-

ing notices and given the 

right to protest, under 

their zoning authority.” 

LICENSES » A3

Sun makes appearance in time for Golden Days parade

By Kevin Baird 

KBAIRD@NEWSMINER.COM

First Avenue was lined with 

spectators Saturday morning, 

eager for the Golden Days 

Grande Parade to begin when 

the beating of drums was 

heard. 
The drums grew louder as 

they got closer, and soon Fort 

Knox Gold Mine employees 

were handing out lollipops to 

excited children. The Army 

band was not far behind, 

marching with its drums and 

trombones, making parade 

music.
There were 77 entries in the 

parade this year with a full 

spectrum of floats.

The Pioneers of Alaska 

had one of the quintessen-

tial Golden Days floats. Their 

float was a representation 

of the Lavelle Young with 

old-timey fiddle music being 

played from the deck of the 

riverboat. 

The Alaska Universal Prop 

n’ Aerial Silks provided acro-

batic entertainment. There 

was an LGBT pride float, pol-

iticians, bagpipers, antique 

cars, a llama, a man danc-

ing in a pink gorilla suit and 

much more. 

After a week of constant 

rain, Aileen Valdez, a lifelong 

Fairbanksan, didn’t think the 

weather would hold up. But 

she was happy the sun came 

out from behind the clouds 

just in time for the parade. 

“It ’s not as good as the 

parade I just went to at Disn-

eyland,” Valdez said with a bit 

of sarcasm. “But my kid got 

excited about the fire trucks 

(Saturday), so I think that was 

my favorite part about it.”

Aileen’s husband, Daniel 

Valdez, said the parade was 

great except for the politicians. 

“There could be less politics 

in the parade. That doesn’t 

need to be here,” Daniel Valdez 

said. 
Above: Vanya Gillette, 15, 

practices aerial yoga on the 

Golden Heart Performing 

Arts float Saturday before 

the start of the Golden Days 

Parade in the Carlson Center 

parking lot. Far left: Jessica 

Obermiller stands with 

PFLAG of Fairbanks in a shirt 

with the names of the victims 

of the Orlando shooting 

before the parade. Left: The 

Everts Air float makes its way 

down Second Avenue. 

ERIN CORNELIUSSEN/NEWS-MINER

PARADE 

WINNERS
Best Youth Entry: 

Farthest North Girl Scouts

Best Marching: Fairbanks 

Red Hackle Pipe Band 

Best Sustaining: 

Everets Air Cargo

Best Non-commercial: 

Raven Home School 

Best Commercial: Alaska 

Universal Aerial Silks 

PARADE » A5

Send letters to: letters@newsminer.com

F1

SUNDAY, JULY17, 2016

OPINION
“ I N D E P E N D E N T  I N  A L L  T H I N G S  . . .  N E U T R A L  I N  N O N E . ”

SUNDAY FOCUS • FRANCE TERROR ATTACKS

House gavels out after week of inaction; Senate likely to follow suitLegislature fails once again

Why terrorists keep succeeding in France attacks

By Leonid Bershidsky

F
rance is in the line of fire. Of the 

16 terrorist incidents that took 

place in Western nations this 

year, five were in France, including the 

deadliest one — Thursday’s apparent 

lone wolf attack in Nice, which killed 

at least 84 people.

A little more than a week before the 

attack, a commission set up by the 

French parliament gave its version of 

the reasons for France’s endangered 

state in a massive report. Apart from 

an objective threat the country faces 

thanks to its colonial past and a fail-

ure to integrate North African immi-

grants, it also suffers from inadequate 

policing.
“All the French citizens who struck 

within the nation’s territory in 2015 

were known, in one capacity or anoth-

er, to judicial, penal or intelligence 

services,” the report says. “They have 

all been on file, watched, listened to or 

incarcerated along their path of delin-

quency toward violent radicalization.”

As in the case of Orlando shooter 

Omar Mateen, the French security 

services watched several of the ter-

rorists who later committed the worst 

attacks of 2015 — such as the Kouachi 

brothers, who massacred the staff of 

satirical weekly Charlie Hebdo. They 

failed to put any surveillance on Ame-

dy Coulibaly, who took hostages in 

Paris directly after that attack.

Samy Amimour, who last November 

fired into a crowd of concertgoers in 

Paris, had traveled to Syria, had been 

questioned and placed under admin-

istrative surveillance; but nothing was 

done after he missed several weekly 

checks in a row, and a lack of coordi-

nation between police and intelligence 

services made sure he wasn’t tracked. 

Another shooter from the Bataclan 

theater, Omar Mostefai, had been 

identified to the French authorities by 

Turkish intelligence as a dangerous 

radical. He wasn’t watched either.

The list goes on. It’s not that the 

French security agencies lacked the 

resources to watch the suspected 

terrorists: According to the report, 

in 2015 the French security services 

had a quota for 2,700 people whose 

communications could be intercept-

ed, but actual monitoring never even 

approached that number.

French law enforcement agencies 

have prevented nine terror attacks 

since the beginning of 2015, mostly by 

watching known suspects with Islam-

ic State sympathies, but they have 

missed too many others. The French 

law enforcement bureaucracy is in a 

permanent state of reform, but the 

services still often work in their own 

silos.
For example, there is a cooperation 

gap between the gendarmerie, which 

polices rural France, and domestic 

intelligence. Many of the future ter-

rorists are radicalized in the French 

prisons, but only a “prison intelli-

gence” force of 114 people is supposed 

to monitor such developments in 

a prison population of 68,000 and 

among 235,000 parolees.

Reportedly, 60 percent of French 

prisoners are Muslims, compared 

with 8 percent of France’s total pop-

ulation. France has a well-known 

problem with integrating its Muslim 

community: It is afflicted with high 

unemployment and concentrated 

in ghettos on the edge of big cities, 

breeding grounds for all kinds of 

crime, from petty drug dealing to ter-

rorism. Youths with a criminal record 

are excellent material for radicaliza-

tion: It gives them a cause for which 

to fight. 
And yet the French government 

barely has a system for tracking this 

risk group’s embrace of radical Islam.

That’s how French law enforcement 

missed the 31-year-old Tunisian-born 

resident of Nice who drove a rented 

heavy truck into a crowd of revelers 

on Nice’s Promenade des Anglais on 

Thursday. Like other French terror-

ists before him, he was known to the 

police for various petty acts of vio-

lence, yet he was never investigated 

for terrorist leanings or connections.

The parliamentary commission 

made 40 proposals aimed at boosting 

France’s capacity to fight terrorism. 

They range from simple measures 

like more target practice for cops — 

something that might have prevented 

the Nice truck driver from plowing 

through the crowds for as long as he 

did — to the establishment of a stron-

ger prison intelligence service and 

better coordination of anti-terrorist 

activities.
That won’t remove the problems at 

the root of all the French attacks — 

the hostility between the Muslim com-

munity and much of the rest of France 

and the globalization of terror, which 

makes France a convenient target 

because of the linguistic and cultural 

heritage it left in its former colonies. 

“We must no longer think in terms 

of French or French-resident people, 

but in terms of francophones,” Pat-

rick Calvar, head of France’s domestic 

intelligence, told the commission. 

“Thousands of Tunisians, thousands 

of Moroccans and Algerians can be 

dispatched into our territory.”

These problems cannot be easi-

ly fixed, though. They are probably 

impossible to resolve in our lifetime 

because they were many decades in 

the making. All France can do in the 

short term is to improve policing, 

make it smarter and make sure signals 

don’t get crossed or extinguished in 

the bureaucracy.

The French government realiz-

es that, and it’s getting reasonable 

advice, but while the bureaucratic 

wheels turn and big structures reform 

themselves, more attackers slip 

through the net.

Leonid Bershidsky is a Bloomberg View 

columnist based in Berlin.

Fuller A. Cowell, publisher • Kathryn Strle, general manager • Rod Boyce, managing editor • Tom Hewitt, opinion editor • Charles L. Gray, publisher emeritus

It was only a matter of hours after 

the second special session began Mon-

day when the wheels started to come 

off. Senate leadership opted not to call 

a joint session of the Legislature to 

consider overturning Gov. Bill Walker’s 

line-item budget vetoes, leaving the 

matter to the House. When the House 

attempted to call such a session, the 

Senate declined, with Senate Presi-

dent Kevin Meyer saying there was 

little support for a veto override in his 

chamber and that the three-quarter 

majority vote necessary for overturning 

vetoes would be essentially impossible 

to attain. Without clear leadership 

to provide a path forward to work on 

budget issues, the House then opted to 

take their ball and go home.

The worst part, other than the rough-

ly $12,500 per day cost of what can 

only be described as a complete waste 

of state resources, was the grandstand-

ing. It wasn’t restricted to one chamber 

of the Legislature: On Wednesday, 

Sens. Bill Stoltze, R-Chugiak, and 

Charlie Huggins, R-Wasilla, inveighed 

against Gov. Walker and his adminis-

tration at a hearing on plans to restruc-

ture Alaska Permanent Fund earnings. 

They blamed the administration for 

not taking the Legislature seriously, 

citing an absence of high-level officials 

at the meeting as evidence the gover-

nor had little respect for legislators or 

members of the public in attendance. 

In response, the governor’s office pro-

duced documents showing that not 

only were officials unable to attend 

because the Legislature intentionally 

scheduled meetings on the same topic 

at the same time in Juneau, Anchorage 

and Wasilla, they had made legislators 

— including Sen. Stoltze — aware of 

that conflict the day before.

It wasn’t just majority lawmakers 

making such statements. Sen. Bill 

Wielechowski, D-Anchorage, went so 

far as threatening a lawsuit over the 

vetoes.
In the House, the most overblown 

statements were reserved for com-

ments just before the body adjourned 

Friday. “Despite the governor’s veto, 

I will never give up; I will never sur-

render,” said Rep. Craig Johnson, 

R-Anchorage, making a bold-sounding 

statement that meant little. Was Rep. 

Johnson, an advocate of reducing the 

size of government, upset with the 

governor’s vetoes that reduced the 

budget by an amount greater than 

legislators — including Rep. Johnson 

— could accomplish? Was he angry 

that the governor had vetoed part of 

the dividend allocation in an attempt 

to make it easier for the Legislature 

to find its way to a sustainable fiscal 

solution? In any event, whatever “I 

will never surrender” meant, it became 

moot a few minutes later when the 

House gaveled out, surrendering to 

the reality that the veto would stand 

and stating plainly that the body had 

no will to work to solve Alaska’s fiscal 

deficit.
Technically, the Legislature is still in 

session, as the Senate has yet to gavel 

out. But the writing is on the wall: Sen. 

Meyer has said he has no plans to force 

the House back into session, and Gov. 

Walker said last week that if legislators 

couldn’t make progress on fiscal issues 

in this session, he wouldn’t call anoth-

er before the November election.

The governor did what he could to 

make working on a long-term fiscal 

solution palatable for legislators. But 

in the end, he couldn’t drag them to 

the table. The Legislature — and the 

House in particular — has opted to 

spend out of savings for another year 

rather than chart a course toward a 

balanced budget. Alaskans should 

remember their intransigence and fail-

ure to act come election season.

News-Miner opinion: Throughout the regular, extended and 

special sessions of the Legislature this year, it was sometimes dif-

ficult to tell who the adults were in Juneau. But in the garbage fire 

that was the second special session of the year, it became painfully 

apparent who the children were. The tormented week saw almost 

no action by either legislative chamber and lasted only five days 

before the House gaveled out sine die. The Legislature’s abject fail-

ure to pass legislation, compromise on budget priorities or even 

communicate has passed beyond tragedy to farce. At this point, 

there can be little hope that any meaningful budget action will be 

taken this year — legislators have displayed they have neither the 

will nor the temperament to make the hard choices necessary.

One dollar

T H E  V O I C E  O F  I N T E R I O R  A L A S K A

SOURDOUGH JACK:“What’s he going to say on a weekday?”

The weather.Cloudy, likely with rain, and highs in the upper 50s.High today ..............56Low tonight ............ 41WEATHER » A9

GOODMORNING

 Classified » B8     |      Comics » B7     |     Dear Abby » B6     |     Health » B4     |     Local Columns » A7     |     Opinion » A6     |     Sports » B1 

INSIDE

• • •

• • •

Fort Wainwright information analyst receives Spirit of Service award. » INTERIOR, A4

Inside Today

Aurora forecast.Auroral activity will be 
low. Weather permit-ting, displays will be visible overhead from Barrow to Fairbanks.This information is provided 

by aurora forecasters at the Geophysical Institute 
at the University of Alaska 

Fairbanks. For more infor-mation about the aurora, 
visit http://www.gi.alaska.

edu/AuroraForecast

FLU 
SEASONDoctors say nasal pray not as effective as shot in kids.

HEALTH
Page B4

newsminer.com

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2016

Fairbanks firefighters honor those lost on 9/11

By Kevin BairdKBAIRD@NEWSMINER.COMT h e  b rav e  m e n  a n d 
woman of the Fire Depart-
ment of New York who lost 
their lives during the Sept. 
11, 2001, terrorist attacks 
were remembered with a 
solemn ceremony Sunday 
morning at the Fairbanks 
Fire Department Head-
quarters.“Each of  us  saw the 

e vents  f rom di fferent 
points, different places in 
life, and different circum-
stances,” said Fort Wain-
wright Assistant Chief 
David Halbrooks, who was 
the keynote speaker. “I was 
asleep at the fire house. I 
was awoke by my wife who 
was crying into the phone 
asking me if I could really 
believe what has happened. 
… I have an uncle who 
worked for FDNY that day 
and still does. I was think-
ing, ‘Was he on duty? Did 
he respond? Where was 
he? Was he OK?’”

Halbrooks finished his 
speech with stories about 
the bravery of the FDNY 
firefighters.Jerry Hanson, a retired 

fire chief of Pogo Mine 
Fire and Rescue, then rang 
a large bell 20 times, with 
a short pause after every 
fifth bell ring. He later 
explained that ringing a 
bell is a tradition of the 
FDNY. He said whenever a 
firefighter dies in the line 

of duty, a similar bell is 
rung 20 times, and broad-
cast over the department’s 
radios and alert systems.

Following the bell tradi-
tion, the crowded fire sta-
tion fell silent to remem-
ber the fallen.“I spent 12 years with 

the Seattle Fire Depart-
ment,” Hanson said. “Four 
Seattle firefighters died 
in one fire. I kind of take 
that experience and try to 

equate that to what the 
Fire Department of New 
York lost. I think about 
how many firefighters 
were lost and the cultural 
impact on the department 
must have been huge.”

“The first couple years 
(after the attacks) my 
thoughts were about the 
firefighters. Today, I think 
that’s shifted a bit to the One Homeless Night:

By Kevin BairdKBAIRD 
@NEWSMINER.COM
It was cold and frosty 

when Cadence Conner 
woke up next to the Fair-
banks Youth Advocates 
office in a cardboard shan-
ty Sunday morning. Still in her sleeping bag, 

the 12-year-old sat up, 
staring blankly into the 
distance for a couple min-
utes.

“I was freezing last 
night. It was so cold,” Con-
ner said. “I woke up like 
three times. I had to put 
my coat on.”Conner was one of many 

who stayed overnight to 
raise awareness for the 
homeless youth problem 
in Fairbanks. She said one 
night was enough for oth-
er children as well.“I feel worse for them 

now because I was so cold 
and it’s not even winter,” 
Conner said. “I think it 
would be awful to not 
have a place to stay.”Marylee Bates, execu-

tive director of the Fair-
banks Youth Advocates, 
said the annual sleep-out 
is in its fifth year and 
it is growing. She was 
impressed the number of 
participants had about 
doubled since last year.“Awareness is constant-

ly required because the 
population in Fairbanks 
ebbs and flows and chang-
es so much,” Bates said.  

Obama calls on Americans to embrace diversity
WASHINGTON — President Barack 

Obama on Sunday marked the 15th 

anniversary of the Sept. 11, 2001, 

attacks by calling on Americans to 

embrace the nation’s character as a 

people drawn from every corner of the 

world, from every religion and from 

every background. He said extremist 

groups will never be able to defeat the 

United States.Obama spoke to hundreds of ser-

vice members, and relatives and sur-

vivors of the attack that occurred at 

the Pentagon when American Airlines 

Flight 77 slammed into the Defense 

Department’s headquarters, killing 184 

people. The youngest victim was only  

3 years old.In all, about 3,000 people lost their 

lives that day as a result of the planes 

By Kevin Freking 
ASSOCIATED PRESS

OBAMA » A10

Jerry Hanson, retired fire chief of Pogo Mine Fire and Rescue, reflects Sunday morning on the firefighters who lost their lives during the  Sept. 11, 2001, terrorist attacks, at the Fairbanks Fire Department Headquarters. KEVIN BAIRD/NEWS-MINER

Congressman questions legality 
of Yosemite park expansion

FRESNO, CALIF. — A U.S. law-

maker accused Yosemite Nation-

al Park of breaking federal law 

by adding 400 acres for a wild-

life preserve without clearing it 

through Congress, but federal 

park officials said Friday he’s mis-

interpreting the law.The addition of wetlands, grassy 

meadows and forest on Yosemite’s 

western boundary marks its larg-

est expansion in nearly 70 years. 

Any significant amount of land 

added to a national park needs 

congressional approval, U.S. Rep. 

Rob Bishop said in a statement to 

The Associated Press.“The Park Service acted out-

side of its authority, and we will 

require them to account for their 

actions,” said the Utah Republi-

can, who chairs the House Natu-

ral Resources Committee, which 

has oversight of public land.
Bishop’s staff said inquiries 

have just begun into how Yosem-

ite acquired the land without  

By Scott Smith  ASSOCIATED PRESS

Above: Shirts for the One 

Homeless Night event sit by the registration table. 

Right: Participants being to build 

their cardboard shelters for the 
night.

Participants play games before beginning to build their cardboard shelters for the night during One 

Homeless Night at The Door on Saturday. ERIN CORNELIUSSEN/NEWS-MINER PHOTOS

FAIRBANKS » A10

This undated photo shows Ackerson Meadow in Yosemite 

National Park, California. ROBB HIRSCH/THE TRUST FOR 

PUBLIC LAND VIA AP

Annual event offers Fairbanksans peek 

into the life of a local homeless youth

YOSEMITE » A8

NIGHT » A3

 Tuesday, July 5, 2016

 Fairbanks Daily News-Miner

A10

F11504635

LAST DAY TO REGISTER ONLINEWednesday July 6thRegistration Fees go up July 7th

JINGLE IN JULY!Saturday, July 9th5K Run/Walk & 1K Kids Run with the Elves
At Santa Claus House in North Pole

For additional information and in-personregistration locations, please go towww.JingleInJuly.com

3401 Airport WayFairbanks, AK455-8226

TACOS • ENCHILADAS • BURRITOS
• TOSTADAS • CARNE ASADA• CHIPS & SALSA • GUACAMOLE

• VEGETARIAN OPTIONS • FULL BAR

F1
15
06
91
8

TACOAZTECASouthwest Traditional Family Style
481 Chena PumpFairbanks, AK451-8226

101 N Santa Claus LaneNorth Pole, AK488-8226

15
06
91
8

F1

AR

ARIAN OPTIONS • FULL B

VEGET• 

Hours: Mon-Thurs 11-10 •Fri & Sat 11-11 • Sun 11-8

Play to Win!!

JULY

G A M E

N-33

Today’s Lucky Number

WORLDFormer hostages questioned over Bangladesh attack
NEW DELHI — Some of the hostages rescued from the weekend attack on an upscale restaurant in Bangladesh’s capital were questioned Monday by investigators searching for clues about the possi-ble masterminds behind the gruesome attack that left 28 dead, including many foreigners.Authorities were still holding five of the 13 hostages rescued when commandos stormed the restaurant in Dhaka’s diplomatic zone Satur-day morning, killing six of the attackers and cap-turing one, according to officials.

B a n g l a d e s h  p o l i c e chief A.K.M. Shahidul Haque said authorities would be interrogating two men, including a suspected militant, who were detained during Saturday’s operation. He would not say whether either had been among those counted as hostag-es, only that they were being treated in a hospi-tal for unspecified inju-ries.
A second official said the five former hostages still being held includ-ed a Canadian citizen of Bangladeshi origin and a Bangladesh-born British citizen. The offi-cial spoke on condition of anonymity, as he was not authorized to speak to the media about the ongoing investigation. The official said authori-ties were looking into the 

backgrounds of the five people and questioning their families and friends.Global Affairs Canada, the government depart-ment which manages Canada’s diplomatic and consular relations, and consular officials at the High Commission of Canada in Dhaka said they had not received any reports of a Canadian cit-izen being detained.It was not clear if all five were suspects, or if they were being held and questioned sim-ply because authorities thought they might offer useful information in tracing the origins of the attack.
The official confirmed investigators were also speaking with a third man described by local media as a Bangladeshi who was trapped inside the restaurant along with his wife and two chil-dren. The man, a teacher at a private university in Dhaka, had returned to Bangladesh recently after living nearly 20 years in Britain.

Some photographs and several crude videos tak-en from an apartment near the Holey Artisan Bakery show the man talking to someone while attackers allowed him to leave before paramili-tary forces launched the rescue operation on Sat-urday. The man’s friends and police also said that one of the attack-ers was a student in the same department at the university where the  

man teaches.The brutality of the a tt a c k  —  t h e  w o r s t convulsion of violence yet in the recent series of  deadly  attacks  to hit Bangladesh — has stunned the tradition-ally moderate Muslim nation and raised global concerns about whether it can cope with increas-ingly strident Islamist militants.
That the attackers tar-geted a popular restau-rant in the heart of the diplomatic quarter of Bangladesh’s capital sig-naled a shift in militant tactics. Previously, most attacks were carried out by gangs of young men 

wielding cleavers and machetes  and hack-ing individual victims before fleeing.The Daily Star news-paper on Monday said the bloody hostage crisis had left “the nation shat-tered and with a sense of extreme unease.” The editorial also criticized authorities’ consistent denial of the presence of any international ter-rorist groups, even as the Islamic State group claimed responsibi l-ity for the attack and released gruesome pho-tographs that apparent-ly depicted the torture of hostages.“ T h e  m e t h o d s 

employed and the sav-agery with which the killings were carried out are hallmarks of inter-national terrorist outfits like ISIS and al-Qaida. This is clear,” the new-paper said. “What is not clear is whether, after such overwhelming evi-dence of their presence, the official line will be one of denial?”B a n g l a d e s h  p o l i c e have said they are inves-tigating whether the attackers had links to the Islamic State group, though the home min-ister insisted IS had no presence in Bangladesh and could not have guid-ed the attack. The gov-

ernment has blamed the restaurant attack and other recent killings on domestic militants bent on imposing Islamic rule. IS claimed respon-sibility for the attack.The Italian Foreign Minis tr y,  a f ter  nine Italians were killed in the restaurant, posted travel advisories saying it could not exclude the possibility of further attacks in Bangladesh. T h e  a d v i s o r y  u r ge d people to exercise the “utmost prudence,” par-ticularly in places fre-quented by foreigners, and to limit their activ-ities to only what was necessary.

ASSOCIATED PRESS

A Bangladeshi soldier controls local residents as they pour in to pay their respects to the victims of the 

attack on Holey Artisan Bakery at a stadium in Dhaka, Bangladesh, on Monday. AP PHOTO

UN warns of starvation in Syrian towns, demands access
BEIRUT — The top U.N. official in Syria on Mon-day demanded immedi-ate and unconditional humanitarian access to tens of thousands of peo-ple trapped in four towns, warning of starvation.The International Com-mittee of the Red Cross meanwhile released drone footage showing extensive damage to Ramadi, which was taken back from the Islamic State group in December after heavy fighting that devastated much of the Iraqi city.Aid must be allowed to reach Madaya, Zabadani, Foua and Kafraya, the U.N.’s resident coordina-tor, Yacoub El Hillo, said in Damascus. Madaya and Zabadani, just outside the capital, are encircled by pro-government forces, while rebels are blockad-ing Foua and Kafraya, in the country’s northwest.The towns have been besieged since last year, with aid convoys allowed only  sporadical ly  to replenish food and medi-cal stocks. The last deliv-ery was made in April.Aid group Doctors Without Borders says 16 people died in Madaya from siege conditions in January, even after aid was allowed in. El Hillo said the U.N. is “calling on all parties involved to ensure this doesn’t hap-pen again.”

El Hillo also urged com-batants to allow medical evacuations. Activists in Madaya have launched a campaign to evacuate the journalist Abdelwa-hab Ahmad, who was hospitalized from a bullet wound last week.Ahmad had drawn attention to the siege through a media cam-paign last December. The images and clips of emaci-ated children transmitted from the town sparked an international outcry.Wafiqa  Hashem,  a schoolteacher inside Madaya, said residents were burning blankets 

and clothes in their cook stoves after running out of other sources of fuel.The U.N. says 62,000 people are trapped in the four towns. Their fates are linked through a recipro-cal agreement between rebel groups and the Syr-ian government. For each medical evacuation from a government-besieged town, for example, a patient must be evacuated from a town besieged by rebels, and vice versa.U.N. officials have said the agreement obstructs aid delivery, and El Hillo said it should be scrapped.An estimated half mil-lion people are trapped in 18 areas the U.N. clas-sifies as besieged, though the independent moni-toring group Siege Watch puts the number at one million. Pro-government forces are responsible for most of the sieges, accord-ing to observers.It was not until late June that the U.N. was able to reach the last of the 18 areas with aid, and offi-cials say they need open corridors, not one-off deliveries. Jan Egeland, the U.N. humanitarian adviser for Syria, said last week that only 60 percent of people in besieged areas have “really gotten help.”The head of the ICRC meanwhile called on lead-ers in both Syria and Iraq to show vision and cour-age to end the conflicts in the two countries. His message was timed to coincide with the end of the holy month of Rama-dan, a period of charity 

and celebration.“Even as Ramadan comes to an end, many ordinary people are living in abject fear and terri-fying uncertainty,” Peter Maurer said. “A human-

itarian catastrophe is unfolding. And, make no mistake, the situation is getting worse. For every-one.”
The video message by Maurer included the 

ICRC drone footage of the extreme devastation in Ramadi.
The footage shows demolished buildings and a hospital scarred by fire, its ground floor reduced to mangled wire and rub-ble. An ambulance parked 

nearby is riddled with bul-lets.
The fight to retake Ramadi involved air-strikes by Iraq and the U.S.-led coalition, as well as several bombings by IS, which also booby-trapped several buildings. More than 100 civilians died trying to return to Rama-di after IS was pushed out.“The people need lead-ers who believe in human-ity, who protect homes, schools and hospitals, who protect civilians and treat people they capture with respect,” Maurer said.

By Philip Issa  ASSOCIATED PRESS

This image made from aerial drone footage released by the International Committee of the Red Cross on Monday shows destruction in Ramadi, Iraq.  ICRC VIA AP

 Fairbanks Daily News-Miner

A4

INTERIOR
MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2016

newsroom@newsminer.com or 459-7572

& ALASKA

LOOKING BACK
10 YEARS AGO

Sept. 12, 2006 — ANCHOR-

AGE — An armed Talkeetna 

man barricaded himself 

in his trailer home for two 

days and resisted chemical 

assaults and a high pres-

sure water stream but sur-

rendered when Alaska State 

Troopers ripped away part 

of his home’s wall with a 

bulldozer.

Troopers on Friday tried 

to arrest Donald B. Voorhis, 

49, on three misdemeanor 

warrants. He also was sus-

pected of pointing a rifle at 

a neighbor, officials said.

Chemical irritants and the 

high pressure water stream 

failed to dislodge him after 

two days at his home on 

Rampart Road off Mile 7.5 

Talkeetna Spur Road, a com-

munity of 875 on the Susitna 

River about 80 miles north 

of Anchorage.

25 YEARS AGO

Sept. 12, 1991 — NORTH 

POLE — A North Pole dis-

patcher used the city’s con-

fidential police computer to 

check license plates out of 

her own “political curiosity,” 

according to Alaska State 

Troopers, and they have no 

evidence that North Pole 

Mayor Carleta Lewis had 

anything to do with the inci-

dent.
Troopers say “rumor were 

not  substant iated ”  that 

Lewis asked for or received 

information obtained from 

the Alaska Public Safety 

Information Network.

Troopers  say  a  Ne ws- 

Miner story Sunday report-

ing that Lewis had used the 

computer to check license 

plates was incorrect. In a 

letter to Lewis,  Trooper 

Capt. John Myers said the 

News-Miner “did not pub-

lish the facts of the North 

Pole Dispatch incident as 

the information was related 

to their reporter.”

50 YEARS AGO

Sept. 12, 1966 —  C APE 

KENNEDY, FLA. — The Gemini 

11 astronauts, swift hunt-

ers in the sky, accomplished 

man’s quickest rendezvous 

of high-flying space vehicles 

today as a dramatic prelude 

to three adventurous days in 

space.
They caught and captured 

an Agena target satellite 

before they completed their 

first orbit of the globe.

“ W e  a r e  d o c k e d , ” 

exclaimed Gemini 11 com-

mand pilot Charles Conrad 

Jr.
“Beautiful,” Mission Con-

trol said to the spacemen.

The rendezvous occurred 

approximately 185 miles 

above the Pacific Ocean and 

the word was relayed by the 

pilots when they passed over 

a tracking station at Point 

Arguello, Calif.

75 YEARS AGO

Sept. 12, 1941 — BERNE, 

SWITZERLAND — The Germans 

have lost their last chance 

to equal Napoleon’s 1812 

schedule of 83 days for the 

taking of Warsaw and Mos-

cow. On this, the 83rd day 

of the German invasion of 

Russia, the Red Army news-

paper Red Star asserted the 

Nazis are being driven west-

ward toward Smolensk at 

the rate of seven to ten miles 

a day in one of Marshal 

Timoshenko’s defense zones.

Berlin military sources, 

however, expressed belief 

that the German command 

soon would announce some 

Nazi victories.

SPOTLIGHT • BRYCE WOLFORD

Fort Wainwright soldier earns Spirit of Service award

By Sam Friedman

SFRIEDMAN 

@NEWSMINER.COM

 
Cpl. Bryce Wolford joined 

the Army to serve his country, 

but it was his service to his 

community that earned him 

national recognition early in 

his military career.

Wolford recently received 

the Spirit of Service Award 

from the American Legion. 

The 25-year-old intelligence 

analyst at Fort Wainwright 

accepted the award with 

members of the three other 

armed services on Sept. 1 at 

the group’s annual convention 

in Cincinnati.

Wolford is originally from 

Redmond in central Oregon. 

He enlisted in the Army two 

years ago after earning a bach-

elor’s degree in psychology 

and justice. He was assigned 

to Fort Wainwright as his first 

duty post.

He approaches communi-

ty service similar to how he 

approaches national service 

in the military.

“I’ve had a lot of really good 

opportunities in my life,” he 

said this week after returning 

from Cincinnati. “I wouldn’t 

be who I am or where I am if 

hadn’t had some really great 

privileges just from being an 

American.”

The Army encourages ser-

vice members to volunteer 

in their community, but few 

put in as many hours as Wol-

ford. He’s helped raise money 

for the Red Cross, coached 

soccer for 7- to 8-year-olds 

and he drives a van for the 

Soldiers Against Drunk Driv-

ing program. He and his wife 

each mentor children through 

the Big Brothers Big Sisters 

organization. 

Labor Day weekend was  

especially busy for Wolford’s 

vo lunteer  commitments . 

Because of the long weekend, 

there was more SADD work 

to be done and he also spent 

a few hours Saturday with his 

“little” from Big Brothers Big 

Sisters. In all, he volunteered 

about 20 hours during the 

long weekend. 

Wolford described the expe-

rience of receiving the Spirit 

of Service award as “hum-

bling.” The American Legion 

convention typically attracts 

about 9,000 people and was a 

campaign stop for both major 

U.S. presidential candidates 

this year.

A highlight of the conven-

tion for Wolford was meeting, 

Hershel Woodrow “Woody” 

Wil l iams,  the  last  l iv ing 

World War II Medal of Hon-

or recipient. Wolford enjoyed 

meeting veterans at the con-

vention, but found it a bit dis-

orientating to be congratulat-

ed on the award by World War 

II and Vietnam War veterans.

“Here I am, I’ve been in the 

Army just over two years, I 

haven’t done anything super 

exciting, I haven’t deployed. 

For the most part, I sit at a 

computer. I do a lot of work, 

but a lot of times, it feels like 

your work doesn’t have a big 

impact,” he said. “All these 

guys are like, ‘Oh my God, 

thank you for your service,’ 

and I’m like ‘What are you 

doing thanking me? Thank 

you.’”
Wolford is proud to be in 

the Army, but his ambitions 

are to one day work in law 

enforcement, ideally the Fed-

eral Bureau of Investigation. 

He describes his interest in 

the FBI as a  fascination with 

a childhood game that he kept 

into adulthood. 

“For me, it kind of never left 

me. I still like the idea of cops 

and robbers,” he said. “I want 

to grow up to be the good guy.”

Contact Outdoors Editor Sam 

Friedman at 459-7545. Follow him 

on Twitter: @FDNMoutdoors.

Cpl. Bryce Wolford, an intelligence analyst with Fort Wainwright's 3rd Battalion, 21st Infantry Regiment, poses outside his company headquarters 

Wednesday morning. ERIC ENGMAN/NEWS-MINER

Cpl. Bryce Wolford, an intelligence analyst with Fort 

Wainwright's 3rd Battalion, 21st Infantry Regiment, is 

interviewed Wednesday morning.

IN BRIEF
Winter storm 

watch set for  

North Slope
A winter storm watch is in 

place for higher elevations 

across much of the inland 

North Slope, with heavy snow 

expected to begin falling this 

morning and tapering off 

through Tuesday night.

Six to 11 inches is expected, 

according to the National 

Weather Service.

The severe weather is 

expected to affect locations at 

2,500 feet elevation and high-

er, according to the Weather 

Service.
Travel is expected to be dif-

ficult.
The Dalton Highway passes 

through the Brooks Range 

mountains at an elevation of  

4,739 feet.

From staff reports



PRE-PRINT INSERT RATES*
Preprinted inserts must meet Daily News-Miner standards for acceptance of 
advertising. Contracts are available based on annual commitment. Preprinted 
inserts are not accepted on Monday, Tuesday or Saturday.

Tabloid rate
(maximum tab size 11” x 11”) per thousand
Up to 16 pages ..... $89.00
18 to 24 pages ...... $95.00
26 to 32 pages ....$104.00
More than 32 pages, call for quote

Standard size pages (maximum size 11” x 22”)**
To calculate charges for standard size pages, multiply by two (2) the actual 
number of pages in the insert and then use prices for the tabloid pages. All 
page sizes larger than 10 inches x 16 inches are charged as standard size. 
Oversize preprinted inserts (larger than 11” x 11”) will be charged a folding 
fee, and are not accepted on Thanksgiving Day.
**All preprint rates quoted are for 30 lb. newsprint weight. Call for rates on 
other weights.

Zoned Preprints

Zoned preprints not accepted Sundays or Thanksgiving Day.

Zoned preprint special handling fee ....................... Add 20%

*Minimum charge for quantities of less than 3,000 inserts  $299.00
     

POWER NOTES (FRONT PAGE)
      
Volume
Agreement ................1 ........... 2 ...........3 ............4 ........... 5 ........... 6

 CPM

Front Page  ......... $99.00 .... $95.00 ... $92.00 ... $89.00 ....$85.00 .... $82.00
Section Fronts  .. $90.00 .... $89.00 ... $87.00 ... $85.00 ....$84.00 .... $82.00

*$35 plate charge per insertion

      
         FRONT OF SECTION ADVERTISING (INCLUDES COLOR)    
  
Contract rates and discounts do not apply.  Any Other
 A1 Section Front     
6 columns x 1 inch  ................................................ $300 ..................$250
6 columns x 2 inches .............................................. $600 ..................$500
6 columns x 3 inches .............................................. $960 ..................$800

WEATHER TOPPER PREMIUM
Guaranteed position  ............................................. $250

 Thursday, July 7, 2016

Fairbanks Daily News-Miner

LATITUDE 65

 4

THURSDAY - 7

FAMILY

OUTDOOR GAMES, part 

of the summer reading 

program’s special programs, 

2 p.m. at North Pole Branch 

Library, 656 NPHS Blvd. 

ROALD DAHL EVENING, 

in celebration of the new 

“BFG” movie, Roald Dahl-

inspired fun, 7 p.m., Noel 

Wien Library Auditorium, 

1215 Cowles St. 459-1052

MUSIC/NIGHTLIFE

LADIES NIGHT, at Kodiak 

Jack’s, 537 Gaffney Road, 

with DJ 50-50 playing top 

40, rock, hip-hop, R&B, 

reggae, Latin and EDM. 

Free admission 11 p.m. until 

closing. 374-3373

KARAOKE NIGHT, at The 

Arctic Fox, 623 Old Steese 

Highway, hosted by DJ 

Angel. 10 p.m., ages 21 and 

older. 374-2900

OPEN MIC NIGHT, at The 

Blue Loon, 2999 Parks 

Highway, 9:30 p.m., open 

to all musicians, poets, 

comedians and artists. All 

you have to do is show 

up. Ages 21 and up. www.

theblueloon.com

BLUEGRASS THURSDAYS, 

7-9 p.m. at The Marlin, 3412 

College Road, followed by 

karaoke hosted by Fo Luv. 

9:30 p.m., no cover, ages 21 

and older. 479-4646

OPEN MIC WITH MIKE, 

at Howling Dog Saloon, 

2160 Old Steese Highway. 

Put your talent onstage at 

the Dog. 7 p.m., ages 21 and 

older. 456-4695

STAGE

“TITUS ANDRONICUS,” 

produced by Fairbanks 

Shakespeare Theatre and 

directed by Andrew Cassel, 

7:30 p.m., outdoors at 

Jack Townshend Point on 

the University of Alaska 

Fairbanks campus, rain or 

shine. Tickets are available 

online at www.fstalaska.org 

or at the box office before 

showtime. 

FRIDAY - 8

FAMILY

ON YOUR MARK, get set, 

read! A storytime for 3- to 

10-year-olds, 10:30 a.m., 

Noel Wien Library Berry 

Room, 1215 Cowles St. 

459-1052

MUSIC/NIGHTLIFE

SAND CASTLE, performing 

contemporary folk, rock 

and retro pop, 8:30-

10:30 p.m., at McCafferty’s, 

A Coffee House, Etc., 408 

Cushman St. 456-6583.

GREEN TARA’S 

HONKYTONK 

SMORGASBORD, playing 

at The Marlin, 3412 College 

Road, 10 p.m. Ages 21 and 

older, $5 cover.

GARY “ALASKA” SLOAN, 

and the Lindy Raines Blues 

Duo, performing at Tubby’s 

BBQ and Sports Bar, 95 10th 

Ave., 8 p.m. to midnight. 

Free, open to public. 

GAZEBO NIGHTS, with Tim 

Robb on renaissance 

lute, 7-8 p.m., a free, live 

performance under the 

gazebo near Goldrush 

Town in Pioneer Park, 2300 

Airport Way. Hosted by 

Fairbanks Arts Association. 

456-6485

MIKE STACKHOUSE, 

performing at Howling Dog 

Saloon, 2160 Old Steese 

Highway. 7 p.m., ages 21 

and older. 456-4695

LARRY RAIN “DOG” 

RAINES, and friends, 

performing at Blues Night 

at Howling Dog Saloon, 

2160 Old Steese Highway in 

Fox. 10 p.m., 456-4695

GUITAR BY ALBERT, 

easy listening fingerstyle 

instrumental music, 6:30-

9:30 p.m., at Ivory Jack’s, 

2851 Goldstream Road. 

SPECIAL EVENT

PRIDE: FUNDRAISING 

FOR ORLANDO, an 

evening of entertainment 

and art for the victims 

of the Pulse Night Club 

shooting, 6-9 p.m., at Venue, 

514 Second Ave. Pride: 

Fundraising for Orlando is 

a grassroots, volunteer-run 

fundraiser, working with 

Fairbanks PFLAG, for the 

victims of the Pulse Night 

Club shooting. There will be 

a silent auction of items and 

baskets donated by local 

artist and businesses, and 

entertainment provided 

by Kittiwake, members of 

Harm and other Fairbanks 

musicians and performers. 

There will also be drinks and 

food available. Ten percent 

of money raised will go to 

the local PFLAG chapter, 

and the rest will be donated 

to the Equality Florida 

Institute’s Pulse Victims 

Fund. More information can 

be found at www.eqfl.org 

and www.gofundme.com/

PulseVictimsFund.

STAGE

“TITUS ANDRONICUS,” 

produced by Fairbanks 

Shakespeare Theatre and 

directed by Andrew Cassel, 

7:30 p.m., outdoors at 

Jack Townshend Point on 

the University of Alaska 

Fairbanks campus, rain or 

shine. Tickets are available 

online at www.fstalaska.

org or at the box office 

before showtime.

SATURDAY - 9

BOOKS

BOOK DISCUSSION 

GROUP, hosted by 

League of Women Voters 

of the Tanana Valley, 

10-11:30 a.m., Noel Wien 

Library conference room, 

1215 Cowles St. Book topic 

is “In Defense of a Liberal 

Education” by Fareed 

Zakaria. Free, open to 

public. 479-5265

DANCE

SWING AND BALLROOM 

DANCING, sponsored 

by the UAF Good Time 

Swing Dance Club, every 

Saturday at Bojangles 

nightclub, corner of South 

Cushman and Airport Road. 

Special Boogie and Blues 

Swing Night every second 

Saturday. Ages 21 and up. 

Free admission. 7:30-10 p.m. 

Information, Kurt Byers at 

bluefox@acsalaska.net.

ARGENTINE TANGO 

MILONGA, and beginning 

lesson, at Sipping Streams 

Tea Company in Chena 

Pump Plaza. Lesson begins 

at 6:30 p.m., social dance 

7-9 p.m. All ages welcome. 

$5 donation requested. 

FAMILY

PRINTMAKING FOR KIDS, 

at Commissure Studios 

inside Co-op Plaza, 535 

Second Ave., 10 a.m. to 

noon. Create prints from 

hand-carved blocks and 

recycled items. Free. 

770-307-8424

MUSIC/NIGHTLIFE

DJ 50/50, playing country 

and top 40 hits, 10 p.m. to 

closing, Kodiak Jacks, 537 

Gaffney Road. Ages 21 and 

older, $3 cover. 

SAND CASTLE, performing 

contemporary folk, rock 

and retro pop, 8:30-

10:30 p.m., at McCafferty’s, 

A Coffee House, Etc., 408 

Cushman St. 456-6583.

KIT CARSON, performing 

at Ivory Jacks, 2581 

Goldstream Road, 9 p.m. to 

1 a.m. 455-6665. Free, open 

to the public. 

ANGRY, YOUNG & POOR 

2016, an all-day concert 

event from noon to 

midnight, hosted by the 

civic group Angry, Young & 

Poor, at Ester Community 

Park, 3566 Old Nenana 

Highway, featuring music, 

bands, vendors and booths. 

Free, family-friendly, open 

to the public. 

THE JEPHRIES, playing at 

The Marlin, 3412 College 

Road, 10 p.m. Ages 21 and 

older, $5 cover.

GAZEBO NIGHTS, with 

fiddler Jean McDermott, 

7-8 p.m., a free, live 

performance under the 

gazebo near Goldrush 

Town in Pioneer Park, 2300 

Airport Way. Hosted by 

Fairbanks Arts Association. 

456-6485

THE AVERY WOLVES, 

performing Alaska 

rockabilly, at Howling Dog 

Saloon, 2160 Old Steese 

Highway in Fox. 10 p.m., 

456-4695 

GAZEBO NIGHTS, with Kit 

Carson playing music that 

rocks, 7-8 p.m., a free, live 

performance under the 

gazebo near Goldrush 

Town in Pioneer Park, 2300 

Airport Way. Hosted by 

Fairbanks Arts Association. 

456-6485

SPECIAL EVENT

TOUR OF HOMES, the 44th 

annual event hosted by 

the Fairbanks branch of 

the American Association 

of University Women, 

1-5 p.m. Proceeds fund 

scholarships for women 

who want to continue 

their education. This year 

the house tour features 

four residences. AAUW 

provides “drive it yourself” 

maps. Tickets with maps 

are available for $20 at In 

My Element, Team Cutters 

Hair Salon, the Alaska 

House Art Gallery and If 

Only…A Fine Store. Tickets 

are also available from 

AAUW members and at 

the door of the homes for 

last minute participants. 

Contact Margaret Soden 

at 479-6793 or go to www.

fairbanks-ak.aauw.net for 

more information.

STAGE

MYSTERY DINNER 

THEATRE, the 15th 

annual event under the 

bigtop tent, at Hap Ryder 

Riverfront Theatre, 1852 

Second Ave., 6-9 p.m. 

Featuring the original 

mystery musical comedy 

“Ba Ra Roo — A True 

Mystery from Dogworld,” 

directed by Peggy 

Ferguson, written by 

John Paul Kohler. Staring 

celeb guest actors Luke 

Hopkins, Buki Wright, 

Willie Blackburn, Morgan 

Gallagher, Bart LeBon, 

Betsy Robertson, Darren 

Gallagher, Bill Bailey, John 

Paul Kohler, Cindy Wright, 

Bill Wright and Gary Black. 

The event is sold out. 

“TITUS ANDRONICUS,” 

produced by Fairbanks 

Shakespeare Theatre and 

directed by Andrew Cassel, 

7:30 p.m., outdoors at 

Jack Townshend Point on 

the University of Alaska 

Fairbanks campus, rain or 

shine. Tickets are available 

online at www.fstalaska.

org or at the box office 

before showtime.

SUNDAY - 10

BOOKS

COMMUNITY WRITERS 

GROUP MEETING, Blue 

Room, third floor of Alaska 

Centennial Center for 

the Arts in Pioneer Park, 

2300 Airport Way, 1-4 p.m. 

The group’s mission is to 

nurture writers, regardless 

of style and genre. New 

members welcome, authors 

encouraged to share their 

works. 456-6485

BOOKMAKING 

WORKSHOP, at 

Commissure Studios inside 

Co-op Plaza, 535 Second 

Ave., 3-6 p.m. Making hand-

sewn blank journals from 

scratch. $25, RSVP required. 

770-307-8424

MUSIC/NIGHTLIFE

CHATANIKA SUNDAYS, 

with Theresa Bauer-Burger 

performing at Chatanika 

Lodge, 28.5 Mile Steese 

Highway, 5-9 p.m. 398-2164.

STAGE

“TITUS ANDRONICUS,” 

produced by Fairbanks 

Shakespeare Theatre 

and directed by Andrew 

Cassel, 2 p.m., outdoors at 

Jack Townshend Point on 

the University of Alaska 

Fairbanks campus, rain or 

shine. Tickets are available 

online at www.fstalaska.

org or at the box office 

before showtime.

MONDAY - 11

FAMILY

MAGICAL MONDAYS, 

hands-on learning for kids 

and families, 7-8 p.m., UAF 

Murie Auditorium. Free, 

open to the public, hosted 

by UAF Summer Sessions 

and Lifelong Learning. 

474-7021. Today’s topic: 

Archaeology in Alaska with 

Scott Shirar, archaeology 

collection manager at UA 

Museum of the North. 

MUSIC/NIGHTLIFE

METAL MONDAYS, 

featuring the best in your 

favorite metal music, at The 

Marlin, 3412 College Road. 

Ages 21 and up, no cover. 

479-4646

GAZEBO NIGHTS, with 

The De Anne and Eric 

Fiasco, playing an acoustic 

mix of blues, folk and 

rock, 7-8 p.m., a free, live 

performance under the 

gazebo near Goldrush 

Town in Pioneer Park, 2300 

Airport Way. Hosted by 

Fairbanks Arts Association. 

456-6485

TUESDAY - 12

DANCE

ARGENTINE TANGO 

PRACTICE, 7-9 p.m., 

upstairs at Roundup 

Steakhouse, 2701 S. 

Cushman St. Learn and 

practice one of the world’s 

great dances with a mix of 

beginning and experienced 

dancers. All ages welcome, 

and a special invite to 

singles and new dancers. 

For more information, see 

the Fairbanks Tango group 

page on Facebook.

FAMILY

HEALTHY LIVING 

LECTURE SERIES, 

presented by UAF Summer 

Sessions and Lifelong 

Learning, 7-8 p.m., UAF 

Murie Auditorium, UAF 

campus. Free, open to 

the public. 474-7021. 

Today’s topic: Cancer, your 

immune system, nutrition 

and immunotherapy 

with Hannah Brice Smith, 

oncology nurse. 

MUSIC/NIGHTLIFE

GREAT LAND SOUNDS, 

men’s barbershop chorus, 

6:30 p.m., 645 11th Ave. 

There is no cost, and any 

man who likes to sing is 

welcome to try singing in 

four-part harmony. Email 

gls-l@lists.alaska.edu for 

more information.

AURORA WOMEN’S 

CHORALE, an all-female 

choir directed by Melissa 

Downes, 7 p.m., rehearsing 

at University Park Bible 

Church, 3681 Sandvik. All 

voices and talents welcome. 

If you are interested in 

singing, contact Allison 

at allison2619@gmail.

com or visti www.

aurorawomenschorale.org.

GAZEBO NIGHTS, with 

jazz pianist Clarence 

Pate, 7-8 p.m., a free, live 

performance under the 

gazebo near Goldrush 

Town in Pioneer Park, 2300 

Airport Way. Hosted by 

Fairbanks Arts Association. 

456-6485

PIONEER PARK PICKERS, 

music jam at the Pioneer 

Park Pioneer Museum, 

6:30 p.m. to about 

8:30 p.m. Musicians with all 

levels of musical experience 

D E A D L I N E  T O  S U B M I T  I T E M S :       N O O N  M O N D AY  F O R  S A M E  W E E K ’ S  L AT I T U D E  6 5  C A L E N D A R

‘TITUS ANDRONICUS’

The Fairbanks Shakespeare Theatre opens its summer production this weekend 

for a three-weekend run at Jack Townshend Point on the University of Alaska 

Fairbanks campus.

ANGRY, YOUNG & POOR 2016

The all day music festival is Saturday at Ester Community Park from noon to 

midnight. And it’s absolutely free.

 

Check out the wide variety of artists performing at Pioneer Park’s Gazebo Nights.

WHAT’S » 5

YOUR LOCAL ENTERTAINMENT GUIDE

features@newsminer.com or 459-7504

THURSDAY, JULY 7, 2016LATITUDE 65
INSIDE: ANGRY, YOUNG & POOR 2016 CONCERT; NEW REALITY SHOW FEATURES FAIRBANKS

By Gary Black GBLACK@NEWSMINER.COM
 

In a first for Alaska, the 
Fairbanks Shakespeare Theatre is 

bringing the famed — and bloody 

— “Titus Andronicus” to the stage.

It’s often considered 
Shakespeare’s most violent work, 

and it’s been a goal to produce for 

director Andrew Cassel.
“I love the story,” Cassel said. 

“It’s an amazing story. The things 

that happen are so gruesome 
and grotesque and awful, and 
that tightens the whole theatrical 

experience. You’ll walk out and be 

like, ‘My life is good compared to 

those people.’”“Titus” is set toward the end of 

the Roman Empire and pits Roman 

Gen. Titus Andronicus against 

Tamora, queen of the Goths, who 

battle each other in a cycle of hatred 

fueled by death, love of family 
and revenge. The play is violent; it 

contains multiple fight scenes and 

the aftermath of trauma and sexual 

assault and comes with a warning 

from the theater company so 
viewers can be prepared. The light 

and quirky “A Midsummer Night’s 

Dream” this is not.“I’ve thought about this play a 

lot,” Cassel said, adding that since 

a movie version staring Anthony 

Hopkins and Jessica Lange 
premiered in 1999 he’s been eager 

to direct it. “It’s a dream play of 

mine to do.”The action is quick, and it’s all 

designed to move the story forward, 

he said, nothing that moments 

of violence are often softened by 

a scene change or an unexpected 

action on stage. He likened it to 

“Game of Thrones,” known for its 

violent scenes that often end with a 

“mind blower.”“Laughter will happen while 

your mind tries to deal with that,” 

Cassel said.To prep the cast for battle, 
Levi Ben-Israel, who also is 
portraying Queen Tamora, acted as 

fight supervisor for the actors. In all, 

he estimated there are 27 distinct 

moments of violence in “Titus” with 

the cast putting in about 40 hours 

of fight rehearsals per week, in 
addition to regular casting calls.

“There are always challenges 

when it comes to choreographing 

fights on stage,” Ben-Israel said. 

“You want them to be as real as 

possible but as safe as possible. We 

have a talented cast, and we have a 

great space to make that happen. 

Some of the violence you don’t see is 

the most gruesome because you see 

the aftermath.”Much of the cast are returning 

actors who performed last summer’s 

“The Two Gentlemen of Verona,” 

and that ease of  having worked 

together is noticeable in “Titus,” 

Cassel said.“Everyone brought that trust 

back,” Cassel said.One aspect noticeable 
to viewers is a bit of gender 
switching in “Titus,” with 
female actors playing male 
roles and male actors playing 
female roles, as was often the 
case in Shakespeare’s day.

As Tamora, the queen, 
Ben-Israel called the 
chance to play a powerful 
female character a 

liberating experience.“My sons are played by women, 

and the emperor is played by a 

woman,” Ben-Israel said. “We 
aren’t playing gender. We’re playing 

character. It’s an opportunity I 

haven’t gotten to have before. 
It was an artistic joy, and it’s an 

emotionally challenging role.”
 Contact Features Editor Gary 

Black at 459-7504 or on Twitter: 

@FDNMfeatures.

Shakespeare theater opens summer performance with classic war-torn play

The bloody world of ‘Titus Andronicus’

 I F  YO U G O
WHAT: “Titus Andronicus,” produced by the Fairbanks Shakespeare Theatre, 

directed by Andrew Cassel 
WHEN: 7:30 p.m. Thursdays, Fridays and Saturdays, and 2 p.m. Sundays, 

through July 24. It opens Friday. Tonight’s performance is a pay-what-

you-can preview performance.
WHERE: Outdoors, rain or shine, at Jack Townshend Point, University of 

Alaska Fairbanks campus
TICKETS: Available online at www.fstalaska.org or at the box office before 

showtime.GET SOCIAL: Follow the hashtag #fstTitus on Facebook, Twitter and 

InstagramFYI: The performance should be considered rated PG-13 for scenes of 

violence, trauma and the aftermath of sexual assault. 

 

C A S TLevi Ben-Israel — TamoraMelissa Buchta —  TitusBen Coffroth —  Alarbus, Quintus, clown, second Goth officerWillis Fireball —  MarcusAnnabel Heyne — LaviniaErlee Hjellen —  LuciusKatrina Kuharich — ChironSarah MacMillan — SaturnineEquiano Mosieri — AaronKalesha Pearson — Bassanius, nurse, first Goth officerValinda Taylor — Mutius, Martius, EmiliusSierra Trinchet — Demetrius

The cast of “Titus Andronicus” at Jack Townshend Point at the University of Alaska Fairbanks. ERIN CORNELIUSSEN/NEWS-MINER PHOTOS

“Titus Andronicus,” produced by the Fairbanks Shakespeare Theatre and directed by Andrew Cassel, opens Friday.

SPORTS
sports@newsminer.com or 459-7586

Section B

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2016

AP Top 25 college football poll B3

Wawrinka wears down Djokovic

NEW YORK  — Mere min-

utes before heading out 

to face Novak Djokovic 

in the U.S. Open final, 

Stan Wawrinka met in 

the locker room with his 

coach and felt as nervous 

as he ever had. Wawrinka 

was shaking. Started to 

cry, even.
Why?
“I don’t want to lose the 

final in a Grand Slam, 

that simple. That’s the 

only reason,” he explained 

later. “The feeling of: You 

don’t want to lose. I don’t 

want to come to the court 

and lose a final. So close, 

so far.”
Once he was on the 

court, and got over some 

shaky play at the very 

start, Wawrinka’s game 

and mindset were strong 

as can be, as they always 

seems to be these days 

when the stakes are high-

est. Repeatedly pointing 

his right index finger to 

his temple, the gesture 

he uses when showing 

his mettle, Wawrinka 

surprisingly wore down 

No. 1 Djokovic and beat 

the defending champion 

6-7 (1), 6-4, 7-5, 6-3 for 

his first U.S. Open title 

and third Grand Slam  

trophy overall.

“He was the better 

player. He was tougher 

mentally,” said Djokovic, 

offering two of the high-

est compliments a tennis 

player can receive from 

the talented Serb. “He 

knew what to do.”

The 31-year-old Waw-

rinka is the oldest U.S. 

Open men’s champion 

since Ken Rosewall, who 

was 35 when he won in 

1970. He entered Sun-

day having spent almost 

exactly twice as much 

time on court during the 

tournament — about 18 

hours vs. about 9 hours — 

as Djokovic, who benefit-

ed from injuries to three 

opponents that withdrew 

before or during matches.

“Honestly, after the 

match, I was complete-

ly empty,” the third- 

seeded Wawrinka said. 

“I put everything on the 

court. Not only today, but 

the past two weeks.”

By breaking in the final 

game of the second and 

third sets, and by saving 

14 of 17 break points he 

faced, Wawrinka already 

had gained the upper 

hand by the time Djokov-

ic clutched at his left 

leg and grimaced after 

missing a forehand while 

getting broken early in  

the fourth.

Djokovic was granted 

the unusual chance to 

have a medical timeout 

at a time other than a 

changeover. He removed 

both shoes and socks so 

a trainer could help with 

bleeding toes. Wawrin-

ka complained about 

the 6-minute break, and 

Djokovic looked over and 

apologized. Later, Djokov-

ic started limping and 

received more treatment.

“We played almost  

4 hours,” Djokovic said, 

“and I think I can speak in 

the name of Stan, as well: 

We both felt it.”

Wawrinka has won only 

five of 24 career meetings 

against Djokovic, but has 

now beaten the 12-time 

major champion on the 

way to each of his own 

Grand Slam titles, includ-

ing in the 2014 Australian 

Open quarterfinals and 

2015 French Open final.

By Howard Fendrich

AP TENNIS WRITER

Stan Wawrinka, of Switzerland, returns a shot to Novak Djokovic, of Serbia, during 

the U.S. Open men's singles final on Sunday in New York. AP PHOTO/SETH WENIG

By Danny Martin

DMARTIN 

@NEWSMINER.COM

 
The Alaska Nanooks 

c r o s s  c o u n t r y  t e a m 

c h a r g e d 

t h r o u g h 

the West 

R i d g e 

Trai ls  at 

the Uni-

versity of 

A l a s k a 

Fairbanks on Friday to 

help them get ready to 

do likewise in their regu-

lar-season opener in the 

Seattle area.

The Moda Health Blue 

and Gold Open served as 

the final preseason tune-

up for the Nanooks for 

the Sundodger Invita-

tional that starts at 8 a.m. 

ADT Saturday at Lincoln 

Park in West Seattle.

The 5-kiliometer Blue 

and Gold Open also was 

open to the public, and it 

helped Nanooks head 

coach Nick Crawford 

gauge his team before it 

heads to the Sundodger, 

which is conducted by 

the University of Wash-

ington.
One thing that Craw-

ford noticed Friday was 

that the top-five runners 

in the men’s race were 

separated collectively 

by 40 seconds, and they 

were all Nanooks.  

He noticed, too, that 

last year’s team most 

valuable players, Alex-

ander  Ecker t  (men) 

and Dorothy O’Donnell 

(women),  were the first 

place runners in their 

respective races of the 

Blue and Gold Open.

“... It’s not too surpris-

ing that they were our 

top runners (Friday),’’ 

Crawford said in a UAF 

release. “We look forward 

to seeing what they will 

continue to do through-

out the year for us.”

Crawford said, too,  

the Nanooks as a whole 

UAF 
preps 
for XC 
opener

Jimmy Garoppolo helps Patriots beat Cardinals

GLENDALE, ARIZ. — Jim-

my Garoppolo did just 

what Tom Brady always 

seems to do. Lead the 

New England Patriots to 

a late score and victory.

But the Patriots need-

ed a little help.

Arizona’s Chandler 

Catanzaro missed a 

47-yard field goal with 41 

seconds to play and the 

severely depleted Patri-

ots escaped with a 23-21 

victory Sunday night in 

the season opener.

“We should have won 

the game,” Cardinals 

coach Bruce Arians said. 

“As poorly as we played, 

we should have still 

won.”
The snap from rookie 

long snapper Kamer-

on Canady was low and 

holder Drew Butler 

didn’t get the ball in ter-

rific position. But Cat-

anzaro was making no 

excuses.
“Just an old-fashioned 

miss,” Catanzaro said. 

“I’ll make the next one.”

Arians said: “It was 

a low snap. Drew got it 

down and he (Catanza-

ro) pulled it.”

The miss came after 

Garoppolo, in his first 

NFL start, directed the 

Patriots from their own 

19 to the Arizona 15 to 

set up Stephen Gostkow-

ski’s 23-yard field goal 

for what proved to be the 

winner with 3:44 to play.

Garoppolo completed 

24 of 33 passes for 264 

yards with no intercep-

tions. He never seemed 

rattled.

“When you have confi-

dence in your teammates 

and they have confi-

dence in you, it’s easy to 

stay poised,” he said.

Coach Bill Bilichick 

wasn’t ready to crown 

Garoppolo the next 

Brady, though.

“He made some good 

plays. It is not perfect, 

but he made a lot of good 

plays,” Bilichick said.

A r i z o n a ’s  C a r s o n 

Palmer threw for 271 

yards and two touch-

downs, both to Larry 

Fitzgerald.

“We came out too 

slow,” Palmer said, “and 

obviously there when 

you have to win it with 

a late field goal, you’re 

obviously behind the 

8-ball.”
Not only were the 

Patriots without Brady, 

suspended for his role 

in “deflategate,” but they 

also didn’t have tight end 

Rob Gronkowski, defen-

sive end Rob Ninkovich 

and two starters on the 

offensive line.

Again,  Garoppolo 

talked about that Patriot 

confidence.

“Whoever is out there 

we have confidence in 

one another,” he said. 

“That is a good thing we 

have going for us.”

A remarkable 45-yard 

run by David Johnson 

set up a 2-yard, slid-

ing, over-the-shoulder 

touchdown catch by 

Fitzgerald that gave the 

Cardinals their only lead 

of the night, 21-20, with 

9:46 remaining.

Ex-Patriot Chandler 

Jones sacked Garoppolo 

on the first play of New 

England’s next posses-

sion, but the young quar-

terback still set up the 

winning kick by Gost-

kowski, who also booted 

a 53-yarder.

“I am really proud of 

our team tonight,” Beli-

chick said. “I thought we 

got great effort from all 

three phases. We played 

a good complimentary 

game.”
A holding penalty 

hampered the final Ari-

zona drive but a pass 

to Jaron Brown put the 

Cardinals within field-

goal range. The snap was 

low and Catanzaro boot-

ed the ball to the left of 

the uprights.

By Bob Baum 

AP SPORTS WRITER

Arizona Cardinals running back David Johnson, center, pushes across the goal line for a 

touchdown as New England Patriots defensive end Chris Long defends during the second half on 

Sunday in Glendale, Arizona. AP PHOTO/RICK SCUTERI

American women sweep in triathlon’s Paralympic debut

RIO DE JANEIRO — Before 

racing in the women’s 

Paralympic triathlon Sun-

day, U.S. athletes Allysa 

Seely, Hailey Danisewicz 

and Melissa Stockwell 

talked about it being the 

15th anniversary of the 

Sept. 11 terrorist attacks. 

They had hopes of hearing 

the U.S. national anthem 

from the podium.

They all did, after 

sweeping the medals in 

the PT2 class in triathlon’s 

Paralympic debut. Grace 

Norman also won gold in 

the women’s PT4 class.

“It’s a great day for 

America,” said Danise-

wicz, who won silver, fin-

ishing 48 seconds behind 

Seely’s winning time of  

1 hour, 22 minutes and 55 

seconds. “On some very, 

very small level, it proves 

that Americans have a 

really great spirit and that 

whatever setbacks, chal-

lenges, obstacles come our 

way, (we) can rise from the 

fire.”

Stockwell lost her leg to 

a roadside bomb in Iraq in 

2004, becoming the first 

female American soldier 

to lose a limb in active 

combat. On Sunday, she 

finished third in 1:25:24.

By Emily Greenwood  

ASSOCIATED PRESS

Melissa Stockwell 

gets ready to start her 

familiarization run on 

the triathlon course 

along Copacabana 

Beach in Rio de 

Janeiro, Brazil, on 

Friday. JENN FINCH/

UNIVERSITY OF GEORGIA 

VIA AP

UAF » B2

By Kevin Baird
KBAIRD@NEWSMINER.COMChris and Cassia Calhoun 

had little experience in wood-

working when they met 

through Myspace in 2008, but 

the couple’s dedication to their 

craft has transformed a hob-

by into the family business. 

The Calhouns named their 

business Gold Heart Supply. 

The husband-wife duo make 

handcrafted wooden house-

wares with a rustic-modern 

flare, such as spoons, lamps, 

magnetic knife bars, mir-

rors, small planter boxes 

and cutting boards. Chris 

said if you can think of a 

houseware, Gold Heart Sup-

ply has probably made it, or 

he’s worked on a design for 

it. 
“We’ve always been inter-

ested in design and we have 

a desire to create,” Chris, 32, 

said.
Admiring one of the spoons 

they’ve made, Chris pointed 

out the spoons are incongru-

ent, and a little crooked, but 

this is what gives Gold Heart 

Supply products their charm.  

“They’re imperfectly perfect,” 

Chris Calhoun said. 
Gold Heart Supply started as 

an Etsy.com shop in 2011 and 

the couple later moved to their 

own website. The business was 

100 percent online until sum-

mer 2015, when business 

began to take off. First, the Calhouns reno-

vated an old shop down the 

street from their house, trans-

forming it into a woodshop, 

an improvement from their 

cramped garage.“A big part of why we’ve been 

able to grow so much over the 

last year is we have the shop,” 

Cassia, 27, said. “It’s improved 

our productivity.” 

Last summer, Gold Heart 

Supply got its first retail space 

on the east wall of the Ven-

ue coffee shop, 514 Second 

Ave. The retail space has given 

Gold Heart Supply more expo-

sure to locals and tourists. 
During the past eight 

months, Gold Heart Sup-

ply started wholesaling to two 

companies in Anchorage. Chris 

hopes to land more wholesal-

ing deals. With three art show 

gigs lined up in the fall, Chris 

said he believes the company 

is “on the cusp of something 

great.”
Gold Heart Supply uses 

popular hardwoods such 

as walnut and maple, but 

they also use Alaska birch 

and spruce. Chris said using 

wood from Interior Alas-

ka is an important part in 

making Gold Heart Supply a 

true Alaskan company.

BIZ SPOTLIGHT • GOLD HEART SUPPLY

Section D

COMMODITIES  ANS CRUDE: $43.86   •   GOLD: $1,366.30   •   N GAS: $2.770   •   SILVER: $20.29   •   THIS WEEK   DOW + 197.37   •   S&P + 26.95
INSIDE BUSINESS

Traveling museum 
looking for wedge ice
Matthew Sturm is looking for wedge 

ice for his permafrost exhibit.

Sturm is partnering with the Oregon 

Museum of Science and Industry to cre-

ate a national museum exhibit about 

permafrost that would travel Outside 

for several years. He is looking for real 

wedge ice.Sturm said if there were a mine within 

150 miles of Fairbanks, with road access, 

he could drive his truck out to the min-

ing site to pick up the wedge ice. Sturm 

is asking miners, if they think they’re 

going to hit wedge ice, to call him at 455-

9600 in the evening or 474-5257.
Rig count increases  

by 9; Alaska unchanged
HOUSTON — The number of rigs explor-

ing for oil and natural gas in the U.S. in-

creased by nine this week to 440.

A year ago, 863 rigs were active. 

Depressed energy prices have sharply 

curtailed oil and gas exploration.

Houston oilfield services company 

Baker Hughes Inc. said Friday that 351 

rigs sought oil and 88 explored for natu-

ral gas this week. One was listed as mis-

cellaneous.Among major oil- and gas-produc-

ing states, Texas gained three rigs, New 

Mexico and North Dakota each gained 

two and Louisiana, Oklahoma and Wyo-

ming each gained one.
Kansas declined by one rig.

Alaska, Arkansas, California, Colora-

do, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Utah and West 

Virginia were unchanged.

The U.S. rig count peaked at 4,530 in 

1981. It bottomed out in May at 404.

Staff and wire reports

IN BRIEF

BUSINESS

Entrepreneur looks to the ocean for inspiration. D4

A healthydiet can bethe bestmedicineBy Richard Cobden, M.D.A merica’s media and 
medical literature is 

rife with reports of a 

growing epidemic of obesity, 

diabetes, heart disease and 

inflammatory conditions never 

seen before in Western civili-

zation. It not only affects more than 

our health, but also our econ-

omy, with significant losses in 

productivity and soaring med-

ical costs. We are led to believe 

solutions lie in research, such 

as advances in medications 

that lower blood pressure, con-

trol lipids in the blood or man-

age inflammatory conditions. 

When these don’t work, 

we rely on surgery to correct 

blocked arteries as we desper-

ately attempt to re-establish 

normal vascular anatomy once 

it has failed. These advances are truly 

marvelous and life-saving, 

and they deserve the great-

est praise. But why are they 

necessary if many of the con-

ditions they correct could 

simply be prevented in the first 

place? Why has this epidemic 

occurred now, when most of 

these afflictions were rare or 

nearly nonexistent a centu-

ry ago and are quite rare in 

non-Western cultures?
 Mortality rates have 

dropped greatly in the past 

hundred years, but that is 

largely due to advances in the 

prevention and cure of infec-

tious diseases such as malaria, 

tuberculosis and polio. 
Prevention has worked, and 

worked so well, that perhaps 

it is time to turn its potential 

to the new epidemics that 

have begun to shorten the 

expected lives of our children 

and grandchildren. We cannot 

ignore what is now silently 

threatening us all.
 New approaches to well- 

established ideas on diet and 

health support the concept of 

disease prevention and cure to 

a degree of scientific certainty 

not previously seen. Published 

reports cited by experts such 

as Dr. Caldwell Esselstyne, of 

the Cleveland Clinic, Dr. Joel 

Fuhrman, of the Nutritional 

Research Foundation, and 

Dr. Michael Greger, of Nutri-

tionFacts.org — all strong 

proponents of plant based 

diets — suggest our medical 

approaches seem to be less 

than effective, and even count-

er-productive, compared with  

a very simple and cost-effective 

solution. I come from a family prone 

to hypertension, stroke and 

heart disease. Six weeks ago, 

my brother, two years young-

er than me, after three heart 

attacks, two cardiac stents 

and multiple medical inter-

ventions, underwent a cardiac 

bypass. My sister died at 55 of cardi-

ac failure. I have been treated 

for hypertension and elevated 

lipids with only moderate suc-

cess. 
When I mentioned this to 

a respected colleague, local 

urologist Dr. John Huffer, he 

enthusiastically suggested I try 

a plant-based diet. 
Because my predecessors 

have always been carnivores 

(my ancestors raised dairy and 

beef cattle, pork and chickens), 

this seemed almost sacrile-

gious. So I was very skeptical, 

but my wife was convinced 

we should try it and strongly 

encouraged me to do so. 
So we went vegan. Yes, vegan. 

That meant no meat, no dairy, 

Couple carves out housewares

business@newsminer.com or 459-7518

SUNDAY, JULY 10, 2016

COBDEN » D4

Chris Calhoun inspects a chunk of wood as he works in Gold Heart Supply’s woodshop in Fairbanks. company, owned 

by Chris and his wife, Cassia, crafts one-of-a-kind housewares from wood. KEVIN BAIRD/NEWS-MINER

Above, Cassia Calhoun handles a lot of the finish work on the products. At left is one of the drills the couple uses in their woodshop to craft goods for their Gold Heart Supply business. KEVIN 
BAIRD/

NEWS-
MINER 

GOLD HEART » D4

This decidedly warm-weather salm-

on is bathed in an olive-oil-and-herb 

mixture and cooked at a fairly low 

temperature to let it cook through 

without browning, and give it a very 

tender texture. Then it’s perched on a 

pile of spring-y greens — you can use 

any baby lettuce mix you like, or cre-

ate your own. Mix that with a pile of 

additional fresh herbs, toss with some 

fresh lemon juice and good olive oil, 

and the whole thing tastes like late 

spring has willed itself into a meal.

Would I eat this in November? 

Sure. But I am craving it now.

Sometimes I like salmon to be 

browned and crispy, but in this case 

I was going for a more delicate, 

poached texture so the herbs would 

retain their color, and the whole dish 

would be soft and gentle. 

Summer is peak season for wild 

Alaskan salmon, which has a more 

pronounced salmon flavor than farm-

raised; I used Coho salmon here, with 

a deep, rich, reddish-orange color. 

Grab it when you see it.

You could cook the salmon ahead 

of time and let it cool to room tem-

perature. Then dress and assemble 

the salads just before cooking, which 

makes this a great recipe for a relaxed 

summer lunch.

Katie Workman has written two cookbooks 

focused on easy, family-friendly cooking, 

“Dinner Solved!” and “The Mom 100 

Cookbook.” She blogs at http://www.

themom100.com/about-katie-workman.

WEDNESDAY, JULY 7, 2016

B4

FOOD
gblack@newsminer.com or 459-7504

This June 26 photo shows buttermilk-soaked chops. SARA MOULTON VIA AP

This May 13 photo shows a fillet of salmon smothered in an herb marinade served over a tender green salad in New 

Milford, Conn. This warm-weather recipe combines salmon bathed in olive oil and herbs with spring-y greens and 

salad. It’s the kind of lighter, brighter meal we tend to want during summer. AP PHOTO/KATIE WORKMAN

Buttermilk makes flavorful pork chops

By Sara Molton 

ASSOCIATED PRESS

Summertime and the 

living is easy. Dinners can 

be casual, thrown togeth-

er at the last minute. 

But when the kids start 

heading back to school, 

it’s time to switch gears; 

dinner usually needs to be 

planned and punctual.

This recipe fits into that 

tempo. It requires five 

minutes in the morning 

whipping up a buttermilk 

marinade and 10 minutes 

to cook in the evening.

The chops in question 

are crosscut slices of pork 

loin, also known as bone-

less pork chops. I recom-

mend the really thin ones, 

no more than half-an-inch 

thick.
It’s important to cook 

the chops until they’re just 

pink, or they’ll be tough.

 

Crispy  
Buttermilk 

Soaked Pork 

Chops
Start to finish: 8 hours, 

15 minutes (15 minutes 

active) Servings: 4 to 6

1½ cups buttermilk

2 tablespoons chipotle 

hot sauce (optional)

3/4 teaspoon kosher salt

2 garlic cloves, smashed 

well
1½ pounds thin (about 

1/3rd-1/2-inch thick) 

boneless pork chops

3/4 cup panko bread 

crumbs
3/4 cup seasoned dry 

bread crumbs

5 tablespoons olive or 

vegetable oil

1 / 3 r d  c u p  f i n e l y 

chopped parsley

4-6 lemon wedges

In a pie plate or re-seal-

able plastic bag, combine 

the buttermilk, hot sauce, 

salt and garlic, whisking 

the mixture in the bowl 

or shaking the mixture 

in the bag until the salt is 

dissolved. Add the chops, 

making sure they are sub-

merged in the liquid, and 

marinate them, covered 

or sealed, in the refrigera-

tor for at least 2 hours and 

up to 8 hours.

On a sheet of parch-

ment combine the panko 

and the dry bread crumbs. 

Working with one chop 

at a time, lift it out of 

the marinade letting the 

excess marinade drip off; 

coat the chop well with 

the bread crumbs.

In a large non-stick skil-

let, heat 1½ tablespoons 

of the oil over high heat 

until it is hot. Reduce the 

heat to medium and add 

half the chops. Cook for 

1½ minutes, add anoth-

er tablespoon of the oil 

and turn the chops over, 

cooking them on the sec-

ond side for another 1½ 

minutes or until they are 

barely pink inside. Trans-

fer the chops to a plate; 

cover with foil to keep 

them warm. 

Repeat the procedure 

with the remaining oil 

and chops.
Top each portion with 

chopped parsley; serve 

with a wedge of lemon.

Nutrition information per 

serving: 353 calories; 188 

calories from fat; 21 g fat (4 g 

saturated; 0 g trans fats); 92 

mg cholesterol; 718 mg sodium; 

9 g carbohydrate; 0 g fiber; 2 g 

sugar; 30 g protein.

Pair black beans, sweet 

potatoes for glorious salad
By Melissa  

D’Arabian 

ASSOCIATED PRESS

The summer Olympics 

have me dreaming of a 

bucket-list trip to Brazil, 

and because my dreams 

usually feature food, I’m 

also hankering for some 

black beans made in my 

incredibly heavy stone 

bean pot a dear friend of 

mine lugged all the way 

back from his Brazilian 

vacation years ago.

Black beans are such 

inexpensive, versatile 

little bundles of protein, 

fiber and carbs that my 

stone pot gets used often. 

I love to cook up batches 

of beans and then divvy 

them up into small bag-

gies to keep in the freez-

er, ready for a quick thaw 

for recipes.
This week, I’m adding 

black beans to an Amer-

ican summer classic: 

potato salad. And just 

like America, this version 

is a true melting pot of 

cultures coming together 

in glorious harmony.

Black beans are paired 

with American-grown 

sweet potatoes (the orange 

variety that is often called 

— erroneously — “yams” 

at the supermarket), a 

red-wine vinegar and red 

onion vinaigrette that 

reminds me of my 

German grand-

mother’s potato 

salads growing 

up, and a touch 

of smoky mayo-

based dressing 

that is so common 

here in the US. This 

potato salad just works. 

Kind of like the Olympics.

Sweet Potato  

Salad with 

Black Beans
Start to Finish: 25 

minutes Yield: 6 servings

2 medium orange-

fleshed sweet potatoes 

(often called “yams” at 

the market), peeled and 

cubed into 1-inch cubes

2 strips bacon, chopped 

into ½-inch pieces

½ small red onion, 

thinly sliced

½ teaspoon ground 

cumin
¼ cup red wine vinegar

creamy dressing:

1 tablespoon lowfat 

plain Greek yogurt

1 tablespoon mayon-

naise
½ teaspoon smoked 

paprika
½ teaspoon sriracha, or 

other spicy sauce

1  ¼  c u p s  c o o k e d 

black beans, rinsed and 

drained if canned

¼ cup chopped, toasted 

walnuts
¼ cup chopped cilantro

Boil the sweet potato 

cubes in salted water in a 

large saucepan over medi-

um high heat until cooked 

through and fork-ten-

der, about 10-15 minutes. 

Drain and allow to cool.

Meanwhile, cook the 

bacon pieces in a large 

skillet until crisp, about 

10 minutes.  Remove 

the bacon with a slotted 

spoon and set aside. In 

the same skillet (keep the 

fat), add the onion and 

cumin and saute until 

onion just starts to soft-

en, about 1 minute.

Stir in the red wine vin-

egar, remove from heat 

and set aside. In a small 

bowl, mix together the 

ingredients for the dress-

ing: yogurt, mayonnaise, 

smoked paprika and sri-

racha.
Place the sweet potatoes 

in a large bowl, and add 

the beans and reserved 

bacon. Pour the red wine 

vinegar and onion mixture 

on the potatoes and toss 

to coat. Stir in the sauce, 

walnuts and cilantro. 

Serve room temperature 

or chilled. 

Nutrition information per 

serving: 147 calories; 53 

calories from fat; 6 g fat (1 g 

saturated; 0 g trans fats); 3 mg 

cholesterol; 265 mg sodium; 19 

g carbohydrate; 5 g fiber; 4 g 

sugar; 5 g protein.

Food Network star Melissa 

d’Arabian is an expert on 

healthy eating on a budget. 

She is the author 

of the cookbook 

“Supermarket 

Healthy.”

Herbed Salmon  

and Salad
Start to finish: about 35 minutes 

Servings: 4

Salmon:
4 6-ounce salmon fillets

5 scallions, white and light green 

parts only, cut into 1-inch pieces

1/3 cup extra virgin olive oil

3 tablespoons fresh dill sprigs

1/4 cup fresh parsley leaves

1/2 teaspoon coarse or kosher salt, 

plus more to taste

Salad:
2 tablespoons fresh lemon juice

2 tablespoons extra virgin olive oil

Kosher salt to taste

6 cups baby salad mix, or a mix of 

purslane, butter lettuce, Boston let-

tuce and mache, for example

1/2 cup whole fresh parsley leaves

1/4 cup sliced chives

1. Preheat the oven to 300 degrees 

Fahrenheit. Spray a baking pan with 

nonstick spray, or lightly oil the pan. 

Place the salmon filets in the pan.

2. In a small food processor, 

blend together the scallions, 1/3 

cup olive oil, dill, 1/4 cup pars-

ley leaves, and 1/2 teaspoon salt. 

Spread the mixture over the salm-

on, and bake for about 16 to 18 

minutes, just until the salmon is 

barely cooked through and flakes 

easily. Let cool for a few minutes in 

the pan, until just warm.

3. For the salad, in a large bowl, 

mix together the lemon juice and 

2 tablespoons of olive oil, plus salt 

to taste. Add the lettuces, 1/2 cup 

parsley leaves and chives, and toss. 

Divide the salad between 4 plates 

and place a piece of salmon atop 

each pile of greens, removing the 

skin if you wish. 

Serve while the salmon is warm, 

or at room temperature if you pre-

fer.

By Katie Workman 

ASSOCIATED PRESS 

It’s amazing how the weather dic-

tates what we want to eat, isn’t it? 

Even if you’re not consciously try-

ing to cook with the seasons, you want 

braises and stews when it’s cool out, 

and food that is lighter and brighter 

when it’s warm.

Herbed salmon dish perfect for summer

Black 
beans are 

paired with 

sweet pota-

toes.  

MELISSA D’ARABIAN  

 VIA AP

 Thursday, July 7, 2016

Fairbanks Daily News-Miner

LATITUDE 65

 6

F12507783

Presented by Festival FairbanksJune & July

Music Festival Fairbanks

Music Festival Fairbanks

(Concerts in Golden Heart Plaza)

F12508571

Wednesdays7 - 8 p.m.
Tuesdays & Fridays12:30 - 1:30 p.m.

24th Annual

First Avenue between Cushman & Lacey St.

Event info www.festivalfairbanks.org or 456-1984

See our Concert Schedule in
Thursday’s LatitudeALL ShowS Are Free

Bring
The
Family!

F1
25
08
58
5

F1
85
07
76
7

For reservations call 907-455-6469 www.maryshields.com

Please see tripadvisor.com to see why her tour was #1 for past 4 years.

Entertaining Visitors?Get hands on experiencewith big friendly huskies

Personal, home visit with celebrated musher and author, Mary Shields.

Summer 2 hour tours begin at 10:00am

Angry, Young & Poor returns for 2016 concertStaff ReportFEATURES@NEWSMINER.COM
 

A free summer concert with an emphasis on family, music and 

community returns Saturday to Ester Community Park.

The event is Angry, Young 

& Poor 2016, a large outdoor 

summer concert hosted by the 

civic group of the same name. It is 

free to attend and runs from noon 

to midnight. AYP (the group) spends the 

year raising money for AYP (the 

event), and whatever proceeds 

are left after the free concert 

go to a Fairbanks nonprofit 
organization. It’s an event the 

group works to support with 

fundraisers ranging from costumed theme parties at The Marlin and 

other events around Fairbanks to the Hot 

Mess Burlesque, the sell-out burlesque show 

AYP performs in the spring.
The event started approximately 15 years 

ago — give or take a few years when AYP 

members took the year off and didn’t host 

a concert — to give underage Fairbanks 

youth something to do in the summer in 

the form of community entertainment. 

Since then, it’s grown to an all day affair 

featuring bands and music, dance troupes 

and performances, informational booths 

and social activities. The event also features 

a slip-n-slide, which AYP disorganizers 

have billed as the largest in Alaska.

 

AY P M U S I C  L I N E U P
Bands and lineup are subject to change

Noon to 12:10 p.m. — The 
Hummingbird & the Blue Flower

12:15-1:45 p.m. — Love Rhino
12:50-1:20 p.m. — Jeremiah Bakken

1:25-1:55 p.m. — Drew Morris
2-2:30 p.m. — Common Courtesy

2:35-3:05 p.m. — The Vocal Chords

3:10-3:40 p.m. — Jessica Christenson

3:45-4:15 p.m. — The Purple Blues Band

4:20-4:50 p.m. — Chainsaw &the Fine 

Particulates4:55-5:25 p.m. — Green Tara & the 

Honky Tonk Smorgasbord
5:30-5:45 p.m. — Cold Fusion

5:50-6:05 p.m. — Chaos Mojo Project

6:10-6:40 p.m. — Hobo Knife
6:45-7:15 p.m. — Spank Williams & the 

Poor Choices7:20-7:50 p.m. — The Dilemma
8-840 p.m. — Thought Trade

8:50-9:45 p.m. — Kittiwake
9-55-10:50 p.m. — Barcelona Boys Choir

11 p.m. to midnight — Barabbas

I F  YO U G O
WHAT: Angry, Young & Poor 2016

WHEN: Noon to midnight Saturday

WHERE: Ester Community Park
COST: Free to attend but bring cash to shop 

vendors and boothsFYI: AYP is a family-friendly event. Parking is 

limited, carpooling is encouraged

ALL PHOTOS COURTESY MONIQUE MUSICK

Stay informed even when you’re away. 
To subscribe: 459-7566

The voice of Interior Alaska 

Check out the e-edition of our 
newspaper and view us in pdf 

format exactly as we appear in 
print. 

www.newsminer.com, click on the e-edition button. 



ONLINE RATES ROS (RUN OF SITE)
      
  Impressions    
 
Size 50,000  100,000 150,000 250,000 300,000+

Open Rate (less than 50,000 Impressions) $20 CPM     
  
Rectangle
300 x 250 pixels $12  $10 $9 $7 $6

Leaderboard
728 x 90 pixels $12  $10 $9 $7 $6

Half Page
300 x 600 pixels $12  $10 $8 $8 $6

       
       PREMIUM ONLINE ADVERTISING – SOLD BY 24 HOUR DAY    
   
LEADERBOARD ................................................................$450/day
• 728 x 90 pixels  • Maximum file size 75K for jpg or gif ads.
RECTANGLE .......................................................................$350/day
• 300 x 250 pixels  • Maximum file size 75K for jpg or gif ads.
SLIDING BILLBOARD .....................................................$350/day
• Billboard 970 x 300/Pencil 970x30 pixels
• Maximum file size: Billboard 75K/Pencil 30K for jpg or gif ads.
WALLPAPER .......................................................................$350/day
• Wallpapers are 1800 pixels wide by 900 pixels deep, with content on the left and
   right sides. The left and right panels are 300x900 pixels, with the content “safe”
   area 160x600. 
• Maximum file size: 200K.

       SPECIALTY PRODUCTS        
VIDEO LINK ................................................................. $350/month
• Link to video on customer’s YouTube page. All platforms. 300x250 pixels.
• Time-based placements. Up to six spots available, which rotate among
   themselves. They are displayed in right-hand column.
EMBEDDED VIDEO .......................................................... $12 cpm
• .mp4 using h.264 encoding and AAC/MP3 autio codecs; 1080p or 720p resolution;
   no more than 8M. For best results, the first frame should be an image, not a black
   screen. 300x250 pixels.
NEWSMINER MOBILE APP ............................................. $6 cpm
• Tablet or phone.
HOMEPAGE TAKEOVER ..............................................$2500/day
• Takeover campaign.
CUSTOM SPONSOR ............................ $40/day/3 day minimum
• 200x90 pixels • Maximum file size 75K for jpg or gif ads.
WEATHER SPONSOR ...... Print & Online Package $500/month
• 88 x 31 pixels • Maximum file size 75K for jpg or gif ads.
IN BOX ADVERTISING
• Today’s Top Story (7 days) ....................................................................................$150
• Thursday What’s Happening Weekly Calendar ...................................................$50

Fairbanks Daily News-Miner
Print Ad Sizes for Broadsheet

1 column width ...............1.53 inches
2 column width ...............3.22 inches
3 column width ...............4.92 inches
4 column width ...............6.61 inches
5 column width ...............8.31 inches
6 column width ..................10 inches

Maximum height is 21 inches

Fairbanks Daily News-Miner
Print Ad Sizes for Tabloid

1/8 page ...........................4.92” x 2.5”
1/4 page ..............................4.92” x 5”
1/2 page .................................10” x 5”
Full page ..............................10” x 10”

WE ARE THE PRIMARY SOURCE
OF INFORMATION FOR INTERIOR ALASKA.

We reach 91% of the 
greater Fairbanks 
market in print and 
online.

Source:  2014 Media Usage Study, 

Information Insights, Fairbanks, AK. 



Stantec Consulting Services Inc. 
725 East Fireweed Lane Suite 200, Anchorage AK  99503-2245

 

      

  

June 18, 2018 
File: 2047056203 

Attention:  Bill Butler 
Director of City Services 
City of North Pole 
125 Snowman Lane 
North Pole, AK 99705 

Dear Mr. Butler, 

Reference: North Pole 2018 Water System Expansion - Control Programming Professional Services 
Proposal 

Stantec Consulting Services Inc. (Stantec) is pleased to provide you with this scope and fee proposal to 
provide integration programming, including the PLC logic programming and supervisory control and data 
acquisition (SCADA) screen development for additional monitoring and controls at the water treatment plant 
(WTP) and Peridot Pump House (PH).   

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The scope of service for the proposed designs are as follows: 

TASK 1: SITE VISIT AND KICKOFF MEETING 

A Stantec control engineer will visit the site to meet with the CONP operations staff to get their input, review 
existing system architecture, and review current programs and graphic screens.  In addition, the Stantec 
engineer may offer suggestions and recommendations for improvements.  Stantec will document the 
meeting comments and discussions and provide a written record.  

Input received during the kickoff meeting will help the integration programmer to deliver products that meet 
the expectations of the operators and end users.  The site visit is expected to take approximately 2 days 
onsite.  

TASK 2: INTEGRATION PROGRAMMING  

Working remotely the integration programmer will develop the graphic screens and PLC logic programs for 
the new filters and pump station.   The “PLC program” is the logic code that automates and operates the 
equipment; the “SCADA graphic screens” are the graphical user interface the operators use to monitor and 
manipulate the equipment, via the PLC program.   

Integration programming will include: 

• Modification of WTP SCADA graphic screens to add the additional filters and equipment. 
• Modification of WTP PLC program as required to interface the additional filters and equipment. 
• Development of Peridot PH SCADA and local operator interface graphic screens. 
• Development of Peridot PH PLC program. 



June 18, 2018 
Bill Butler 
Page 2 of 4  

Reference: North Pole 2018 Water System Expansion - Control Programming Professional Services Proposal 

  

 

Section 40 90 00 Process Control and Instrumentation Systems, Section 3.8 specifies the sequence of 
operations and logic required at Peridot, and at the WTP.    This document also specifies programming and 
graphic standards for the project.    The Integration programming will conform to this specification. 

Existing SCADA screens for the WTP will be modified to incorporate the new filters and other equipment.  
New screens will be developed for the Peridot PH. The screens will include monitoring, control, and alarm 
functions as specified in Section 40 90 00. 

Development of Graphic screens includes screens at both the local terminals in the WTP and Peridot pump 
house, and at the SCADA head end. 

TASK 3: GRAPHIC SCREEN PROGRAMMING DEMONSTRATION AND REVIEW 

Preliminary graphic screens will be presented to the CONP operations staff via video conference.  The 
objective of this task is to present the look and feel of the WTP and Peridot PS monitoring screens and 
solicit feedback from CONP operations staff.  Comments received during the demonstration will be 
incorporated into the final graphic screens before installation.   

We anticipate a single round of graphic screen demonstration and review.  We have allowed for addition of 
reasonable features, alarms, controls, etc., as may be requested by the operators during the 
demonstrations. 

TASK 4: STARTUP AND TESTING  

A Stantec control engineer will be onsite to load the control programs to the various PLCs, and to assist 
with the startup and testing of the monitoring and control systems for the new WTP equipment and pressure 
filters and Peridot PH. The Stantec engineer will work with the CONP Operations staff and the Contractor’s 
staff to thoroughly test the local and remote SCADA monitoring and control screens and programming, 
including communications and alarm functions.  Functionality and testing will be witnessed and verified on 
forms developed for the project. 

One visit for each site is anticipated with up to 3 days onsite for the pump station and 7 days for the WTP.  

The construction contractor is responsible for ensuring the physical control equipment is installed, wired, 
and tested prior to the Stantec integrator arriving on site; this includes the communications systems.   If the 
equipment is not ready, this may require additional site visit by the integrator, at additional cost. 

TASK 5: QA / QC 

In compliance with Stantec internal procedures, and industry standards, internal reviews of will be 
conducted by knowledgeable parties not directly involved in their development. These third-party reviewers 
will verify that the deliverables will meet contract requirements, industry expectations, and CONP needs.  

TASK 6: PROJECT MANAGEMENT 

The Stantec project manager will review all deliverables before submittal, as well as prepare and submit 
invoices and monitor completion of tasks and deliverables. 



June 18, 2018 
Bill Butler 
Page 3 of 4  

Reference: North Pole 2018 Water System Expansion - Control Programming Professional Services Proposal 

  

 

ASSUMPTIONS AND/OR EXCLUSIONS 
• CONP will provide current SCADA and WTP PLC program files. 
• The Contractor will provide accurate redline loop drawings. 
• Submittals will be electronic only.   
• Contractor is responsible for loop testing and verification; testing and verification is completed prior to 

programs being loaded. 
• Contractor shall have work at a stage of completion to allow program upload approximately 1 month 

prior to substantial completion. 
• Contractor shall have the pressure filter manufacturer’s control system programmer on site during 

startup and testing of that system. 
• The Peridot PS cellular link will be operational for startup and testing. 
• Support for the startup and testing can be completed in two site visits, one each for the Peridot PH and 

the WTP. 
• Items not specifically included in the scope outlined herein are not part of our proposal. Where either 

Stantec or CONP identify additional work that may benefit the project, the work can be provided by 
amendment at contract rates as CONP directs. 

 

SCHEDULE 

Based on acceptance of this proposal by June 27th, the following tentative schedule is proposed: 

Table 1: Preliminary Schedule 

Activity Approximate Completion Date 

Task 1: Site Visit and Kickoff Meeting July 11, 2018 

Task 2: Integration Programing Integral with, and prior to completion of Tasks 3 
and 4 

Task 3: Graphic Screen Programming Demonstration July 30, 2018 

Task 4: Startup and Testing  

Support I/O testing and new filter startup (WTP site visit) Week of August 20, 2018 

Support new pump station startup (Peridot PH site visit) Week of September 3, 2018 

Task 5: QA / QC Prior to submittals above 

Task 6: Project Management On going  

  

FEE 

The services described here will be provided to CONP in accordance with the Professional Service Terms 
and Conditions previously negotiated and agreed to between Stantec and CONP.  This work may be 
completed by change order to the existing agreement or a separate agreement. The total estimated fee for 
proposed services is $82,616 to be performed on a time and materials basis. The development of this fee is 
shown on the attached spreadsheet.  



June 18, 2018 
Bill Butler 
Page 4 of 4  

Reference: North Pole 2018 Water System Expansion - Control Programming Professional Services Proposal 

  

 

Services will be performed at the standard Stantec billing rates in effect at the time services are provided, 
subject to annual adjustment. Direct expenses will be invoiced at cost plus ten percent (10%). Travel, 
lodging, vehicles, and supplies will be invoiced at cost, without markup. 

A worksheet showing the development and assumptions inherent in this fee is attached. The project will be 
invoiced monthly.   

CLOSURE 

We appreciate this opportunity to propose on this work and look forward to working with you on the 
successful completion of this project. If you have any questions, or would like to discuss the scope of work, 
please contact me or Bruce Robson by phone at (907) 276-4245. 

Regards, 

Stantec Consulting Services Inc.  

 
Dean Syta PE 
Principal 
 
Phone: 907-343-5260  
Fax: 907-258-4653  
dean.syta@stantec.com 

Attachment: As indicated 
c. file 
sg \\us1308-f01\shared_projects\2047056203\_management_cm_2018_water_exp\contracts\programming\20180604_conp_programming.docx 



P
ro

je
ct

 / 
C

A
 M

an
ag

er
D

ea
n 

S
yt

a,
 P

.E
.

P
ro

ce
ss

 E
ng

in
ee

r
B

ria
n 

M
is

ki
ll 

P
E

C
on

tro
ls

 E
ng

in
ee

r
P

hi
l A

tk
in

so
n

A
dm

in
is

tra
tiv

e 
S

up
po

rt
U

rs
ul

a 
D

ic
ki

ns
on

To
ta

l H
ou

rs

La
bo

r C
os

ts

E
xp

en
se

s

TO
TA

L 
C

O
ST

S

Hourly Rate - will be charged at rate in effect each year $216 $216 $188 $139
Control System Programing

Task 1: Site Visit and Kickoff Meeting
Site visit to review existing SCADA application to enable offline 
(remote) generation of new screens 28 2 30 5,542$    $5,542

Trip Report 1 4 5 968$       $968
Travel and per diem $2,750 $2,750

Task 2: Integration Programming
Modify WTP SCADA graphic screens to add filters and equipment 1 2 18 21 4,032$    $4,032
Modify WTP PLC program for added filters and equipment 1 2 36 39 7,416$    $7,416
Peridot PH SCADA and local operator interface graphic screens 1 2 18 21 4,032$    $4,032
Peridot PH PLC program 1 4 50 55 10,480$  $10,480
Perform internal system tests (simulated environment) 2 2 36 40 7,632$    $7,632

Task 3: Graphic Screen Programming Demonstration and Review
Demonstrate proposed screens to client 1 2 3 592$       $592
Finalize new screens for WTP 1 20 21 3,976$    $3,976
Finalize new screens for pump station 1 20 21 3,976$    $3,976

Task 4: Startup and Testing
Support new filter startup 32 32 6,016$    $6,016
Support new pump station startup 64 64 12,032$  $12,032
Travel and per diem $7,000 $7,000

Task 5: QA / QC 
Review of sequence of ops, new plant SCADA screens and Panelview 
screens 6 12 18 3,888$    $3,888

Task 6: Project Management 8 4 12 2,284$    $2,284

Sub-total hours 22 26 328 6 382
Sub-total fees $4,752 $5,616 $61,664 $834 $72,866 $9,750 $82,616



Sponsored by:  Mayor Ward 
Intorduced & Advanced:  July 2 , 2018 

Possible Adoption:  July 16, 2018 

1 

  CITY OF NORTH POLE 1 
ORDINANCE NO. 18-14 2 

 3 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NORTH POLE, ALASKA 4 

TO AMEND THE 2018 POLICE DEPARTMENT AND FIRE 5 
DEPARTMENT BUDGETS 6 

 7 
WHEREAS, changes to the public services practices and policies is a continually changing 8 
requirement; and, 9 
 10 
WHEREAS, the City of North Pole budget should be amended to conform to the requirements 11 
of the City; and, 12 
 13 
WHEREAS, the police department budget is not to be increased in this adjustment, and 14 
 15 
WHEREAS, the fire department budget is not to be increased in this adjustment; and, 16 
 17 
WHEREAS, the proposed changes are within the department however they are across categories 18 
and their fore cannot be made without council approval,  19 
 20 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of North Pole that it 21 
approves the police and fire department changes as listed in the fiscal note to be attached to this 22 
ordinance.  23 
 24 
Section 1. This ordinance is of a general nature and shall not be codified. 25 
 26 
Section. Effective date. 27 
This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon passage. 28 
 29 
PASSED AND APPROVED by a duly constituted quorum of the North Pole City Council this 30 
_____ day of _____, 2018. 31 
 32 
 33 

________________________________ 34 
Bryce J. Ward, Mayor 35 

 36 
ATTEST: 37 
 38 
__________________________________ 39 
Judy Binkley, North Pole City Clerk 40 

PASSED/FAILED 
Yes: 
No: 
Absent: 



City of North Pole, Alaska 

Fiscal Note Year: 

Accompanying Ordinance/Resolution #: Ordinance 18-14 

Originator I Sponsor Name: Mayor Bryce Ward 

Date: 6-27-18 

Does the Ordinance or Resolution have a fiscal impact? 

Fund-Dept. Account Description Account# 

Title 

GF Police Wages Full Time 01-53-1-100

GF Police IT services 01-53-2-220

GF Police Professional Services 01-53-2-235

GF Police Travel and Training 01-53-2-510

GF Police Building Maintenance 01-53-7-700

GF Police [ransfer out 

FF Police Police Fleet transfer in 23-00-3-999

FF Police Police Fleet vehicle Purchase 23-10-9-922

GF Fire Vehicle maintenance 01-54-6-610

GF Fire Building maintenance 01-54-7-700

GF Fire Office Supplies 01-54-3-335

GF Fire Maintenance Contract 01-54-2-230

yes 

Debit 

5,200 

1,000 

5,000 

5,000 

10,000 

10,000 

2,500 

2,000 

500 

no 

Credit 

26,200 

10,000 

5,000 

Summary: (Brief description of proposed alterations as defined by accompanying
ordinance or resolution. Where did the money come from and how will it be used). 

Changes to budget to reflect cost savings in personnel cost and increases to other categories. 
Transfer to fleet fund is to offset expected equipment expenses to be drawn from operating 
budget. 

Prepared By: 1� °4'-6--: Wvrd Date: G.·2.7-/?

Finance Approvat, L;, .7'-;::f Date: 6 -,?J-Lg:: 
NOTE- Fiscal notes attached to an ordinance are considered amendments to the budget and do 
not require an additional approval for insertion into the budget document. 


	Agenda
	06.18.2018 Minutes
	New Business: Auction Contract Extension
	New Business: FDNM Advertising Contract
	New Business: Water System Expansion Professional Services Proposal
	New Business: Ordinance 18-14



